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Section One: Overview 
 

• Mayors Message 
• Executive Summary 
• Community profile and Council map 

 
 

 
 
 

Southern end of Murray Street, Gawler. 1800s. 
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Mayors Message 
Over the past year, Gawler has continued to reinforce its position as both a significant 
regional town while providing all the benefits expected in a metropolitan centre.  
 
One of the major achievements of the past 12 months was the opening by the Premier of the 
Gawler Volunteer Resource Centre, the culmination of many years of hard work and lobbying 
by councillors and staff. Already the Centre has become a focal point for both volunteers and 
the many community groups and organisations that depend on them.  
 
In conjunction with the Resource Centre, Council established the Volunteer Advisory 
Committee, a group of representatives from the community and Council who will advise 
Council of the needs of the volunteers and have responsibility for management of the Centre. 
 
One of the more colourful events which occurred earlier this year was the HMAS Gawler 
Freedom of Entry/ANZAC Day march, led by the current crew of the patrol boat. The first 
Freedom of Entry march was held exactly 20 years previously in April 1986. Although the 
HMAS Gawler is now decommissioned Council has submitted a bid for part of its weaponry, 
for proposed display in the community. 
 
While I have only held the office of Mayor since March, following Tony Piccolo’s successful 
campaign to become the Member of Light, I have had the privilege to be invited to attend a 
number of very worthy and commendable community causes. Certainly two such highlights 
over the past six months have been to welcome the teams in this year’s Variety Club Bash to 
Gawler and wish them well on their major fundraising campaign to Goolwa. I am sure that 
everyone who attended enjoyed the spectacular.  
 
The second occasion, while not so extravagant, was to welcome over 600 family members to 
the recent Arthritis Society’s Kids Flicks at the Gawler Cinemas. This group relies on the 
generosity of local businesses and their fundraising efforts to provide disabled and 
disadvantaged children a day out at the movies.  
 
It has been a privilege to see how well our business community and service clubs work 
together to promote and enhance our town for the benefit of all. I look forward to this year’s 
Christmas festivities in the main street and encourage everyone to come along and enjoy the 
day. 
 
Next year, Council will again hold the Gawler Horse Festival in March and it has been my 
pleasure to develop this fantastic event which highlights the many different equestrian 
disciplines. Again, Steinborner Holden has agreed to be the main sponsor and this can only 
mean a bigger and better event than in 2005. 
 
The future of Gawler holds many promises and I look forward to serving the community in 
conjunction with my fellow councillors and staff to provide our services more efficiently and 
effectively.  Thank you to my colleagues on the Council, staff and the community for their 
assistance in achieving these goals. 
 
Helena Dawkins 
Mayor 
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Executive Summary 
It has been a successful year for the Town of Gawler. This Annual Report illustrates our 
performance during the past year.    
 
It is a pleasure to serve the Gawler community.   Gawler has an exciting future.  We have the 
benefits of city living with a welcoming country atmosphere.  The Council is committed to 
economic, community and environmental sustainability.  This involves balance and managing 
for the long term.  The Council is the custodian of many community assets, and they all 
require care, maintenance, and whole-of-life planning.   
 
We continue to refine our vision and strategic plan, which have been developed with a strong 
focus on sustainability.  We have aligned our Strategic Plan actions with South Australia’s 
Strategic Plan. 
 
Our Executive Team has a strong commitment to teamwork, safety, communication and 
quality service.   Our staff present Council with innovative solutions to community issues 
within the available resources.   The efforts of all staff, along with a positive partnership with 
our elected Council, are key factors in moving Gawler forward. 
 
I would like to express my sincere appreciation to the Mayor and Elected Members, Executive 
Team and all professional and innovative staff, for their dedication to the community.  It has 
been a productive and worthwhile year.   Our focus is on the community.  
 
Neil Jacobs 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Community Profile 
Gawler is located 40 kilometres north of the Adelaide.  Gawler is at the edge of the 
metropolitan area and identifies itself as a separate provincial town providing “the best of 
town and country”. 

 
The Town of Gawler covers an area of 41.1 square kilometres.  Within its boundaries are the 
residential areas: 
 

• Bibaringa 
• Evanston 
• Evanston Gardens 
• Evanston Park 
• Evanston South 
• Gawler 
• Gawler East 

• Gawler South 
• Gawler West 
• Hillier 
• Kudla 
• Reid 
• Uleybury 
• Willaston 

 
 
As at 30 June 2005 Gawler’s population was 19,390.  Since its formation in 1839 Gawler has 
served as a regional centre for the surrounding area providing retail, education, medical, 
community and recreational services and facilities.  The catchment for this surrounding area is 
now estimated as 80,000 people. 
 
An ABS Regional Profile of the Town of Gawler, commissioned in April 2006, provided a 
snapshot of Gawler in comparison to both regional South Australia and the whole of the State.  
It confirms that the town has: 

• a slightly higher number of young people and even greater percentage of people of 
retirement age than the state average 

• 5 public and 4 private schools with a combined enrolment of 4,565 students (with 
several more schools located adjacent to the Council boundaries) 
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• a higher percentage of people moving to Gawler from either our region or elsewhere 
in the State   

• over 25% of single person households   
• 20% of its population born overseas with more than three quarters of these from an 

English speaking country. 
 
Young families, recent retirees and more elderly citizens all choose to live here.  Residents 
and visitors identify the strong sense of history, the strong sense of community and 
environmental pride as major social assets that complement wide range of the services and 
facilities the town provides. 
 
Our community is actively interested and involved in the changes that affect the town.  
Community consultation (by all three tiers of government), social interaction and the forum 
provided by the local newspaper all provide avenues for public debate and enables residents 
to genuinely influence future outcomes for Gawler. 
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Section Two: How Council Operates 
 

• Council Members  
• Council and Council Committee structure 
• Elected Members attendance 
• Council 
• Committees 
• Council participation in the LGA and ALGA, and any regional organizations 
• Elected Members allowances 
• Council representation quota 
• Comparative representation 
• Periodic review S12(5) 
• Procedures available for electors to make submissions on representation 
• Staff and Management structure 
• Organisation chart 

 
 

 
 

 
Murray Street, Gawler, 1900s. 
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Elected Members & Senior Management 
 
Title Address Contact  
 
Mayor 
Helena Dawkins 

 
3 Edith Street 
Gawler East 
SA  5118 
 

 
Hm: 8522 4576 

 
 
Deputy Mayor 
Brian Thom 

 
17 Daly Street 
Gawler East 
SA   5118 
 

 
Hm/Fax: 8522 2823 

 
 
Cr David Arandle 

 
14 St Albans Road 
Evanston Park 
SA  5116 

 
Hm: 8522 7531 
Email: 
etourist@arttimeproductions
.com 

 
Cr Lillian Bartlett 

 
15 Tenth Street 
Gawler South 
SA  5118 

 
Hm: 8522 2720 

 
Cr Warren Dibben 

 
13 Trinity Dve 
Evanston Pk 
SA  5118 
 

 
Hm/Fax: 8522 5524 

 

 
Cr David Ferguson 

 
3 Bagot Court 
Evanston Park 
SA  5118 
 

 
Hm: 8522 1385 
dfe44720@bigpond.net.au 

 
 
Cr Kevin Fischer 

25 The Terrace 
Gawler South 
SA  5118 
 
 

 
0407 472 373 
kfisher@kern.com.au 

 

 
Cr Gregory Morris 

 
7 Freeman Crt 
Gawler East 
SA  5118 
 

 
Hm: 8522 6818 
gmorris@internode.on.net 

 

 
Cr Ian Skewes 

 
PO Box 109 
Willaston 
SA   5118 

 
0412 470 458 
Fax: 8524 8283 
idskewes@dodo.com.au 

 



9 

 
Cr David Strauss 

 
3 Darrell St 
Evanston Park 
SA   5118 

 
Hm: 8523 5570 
0419 035 426 
Fax: 8523 1288 
dstrauss@bigpond.net.au  

 
Neil Jacobs 

 
Chief Executive 
Officer 

 
Phone: 8522 9241 
Fax: 8522 9212 
neil.jacobs@gawler.sa.gov.a
u  

 
Terry Spurling 

 
Senior Manager 
Infrastructure and 
Environmental 
Services 

 
Phone: 8522 9242 
Fax: 8522 9212 
terry.spurling@gawler.sa.go
v.au  

 
Malcolm Crout 

 
Director Corporate 
and Community 
Services 
 

 
Phone: 8522 9225 
Fax: 8522 9212 
malcolm.crout@gawler.sa.g
ov.au 
  

 
 
Structure and Functions of the Council 
 
Council 
Full Council, consisting of the Mayor and 10 Area Councillors is the peak decision making 
body on all policy matters.    From 29/3/06 Cr Dawkins was appointed Mayor by Council 
after Tony Piccolo was appointed as a Member of Parliament.  Council will be operating with 
9 Area Councillors until the 2006 November election.   Ordinary meetings of the Council are 
held monthly on the 4th Tuesday of each month commencing at 7pm.  Meetings are held in the 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, 89 Murray Street, Gawler.  Members of the public are 
welcome to attend.  A ‘public open forum’ is held at the start of each Council meeting. 
 
Committees 
 
A number of committees have been established to streamline the consideration of Council 
business in accordance with the requirements of Section 41 of the Local Government Act: 
 



10 

Council Portfolio Committees 
 

• Governance & Strategy Portfolio committee [commenced from 23/5/06 - previously 
Corporate Governance Portfolio Committee] – meets 1st Tuesday, bimonthly (6.30pm) 

• Corporate & Community Services Portfolio Committee [commenced from 23/5/06 - 
previously Economic and Community Services Portfolio committee] – meets 2nd 
Tuesday, monthly (6.30pm) 

• Infrastructure & Environmental Services Portfolio Committee – meets 3rd Tuesday, 
monthly (6.30pm) 

• Performance Management Panel – meets as required 
 
Other Committees 

 
• Civic Centre Management Committee 
• Elderly Centre Committee 
• Gawler Horse Festival Committee 
• Gawler River Junction Committee (previously Parridla Taikonda Committee) 
• Gawler Volunteer Advisory Committee 
• The YAC Committee 

 
Members of the public are welcome to attend Council and committee meetings, which are 
held as and when required. Agendas of Council and Committee meetings are placed on public 
display no less than three days prior to meetings.  Minutes are available for viewing within 
five days of that meeting and on Councils website www.gawler.sa.gov.au. 

 
Regional Subsidiaries 
 
The following have been established in accordance with the requirements of Section 43 of the 
Local Government Act: 

 
• NAWMA (Northern Adelaide Waste Management Authority)  
• Gawler Business Development Board 
• Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

 
External Committees/Boards/Associations 

 
Council participates in a number of external committees, boards and associations comprising 
elected members, staff and the public.  Currently they are:  

 
• Adelaide Plains Animal & Plant Control Board 
• Building Fire Safety Committee 
• Development Assessment Panel 
• Evanston Park Local Area Traffic Management Committee 
• Gawler Community Services Forum 
• Gawler Youth Advisory Committee 
• Local Government Association 
• Local Government Finance Authority 
• Mayor’s Service Club Forum 
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Public Participation 
 
Council Meetings 
 
Member of the public have a number of opportunities to express their views on particular 
issues before Council. 

 
• Deputations – People wishing to formally address a meeting of Council, or 

Committee, must make a written request to the Chief Executive Officer.  The request 
must include a statement of the reason why the deputation wishes to appear.  The 
Chief Executive Officer must notify the Mayor or Chairperson and notify the 
deputation in writing of the date and hour of the meeting. 

 
• Public Open Forum at Council Meetings – To encourage direct communication 

between the public and Council there is a 15 minute open segment for the public to 
make statements, place submissions or put questions before Council. 

 
• Petitions – Written petitions (including letters of multiple signatories) can be 

addressed to the Council on any issue within the Council’s jurisdiction. 
 

• Written Requests – A member of the public can write to the Council on any Council 
Policy, activity or service 

 
• Elected Members – Members of the public can contact their Elected members of 

Council to discuss any issue relevant to Council 
 

• Staff Members – Members of the public can contact Council staff to discuss any issue 
relevant to Council. 

 
Public Consultation Policy 

 
The purposes of this Policy is to outline the principles and procedures that Council will 
follow to involve the community in planning and decision making in the local area, and to 
ensure accountability of the Council to the community through effective communication 
and consultation strategies. The principles underpinning this policy are: 

 
• The community has a right to be involved in, and informed about, decisions 

affecting their area 
• Community involvement in Council decision making will result in greater 

confidence in the Council and responsible decision making 
• Council decision making should be open, transparent and accountable 
• The Council recognises that the level of consultation with the community will vary 

depending on the community interest in the topic, the number of persons 
potentially affected by the topic and the requirements for consultation set out in 
the Act for specific topics. 

• The Council’s desire to balance community views and interests with the other 
influences such as budgetary constraints 
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• The community has a right to be informed and to influence decisions which affect 
their lives. 

 
 Council consultation involves seeking and receiving feedback, as well as providing 

information.  Consultation with residents can take a variety of forms including: 
 

• hand delivered or posted circular letters 
• letters personally addressed to individuals, including questionnaires 
• street meetings or local area meetings 
• various pamphlets or publications 
• telephone sample surveys 

 
 
The following are some examples of the consultation undertaken by Council: 

 
• Reserve Development - Local residents may be consulted on the types of facilities and 

equipment during the design of some reserves. 
• Development Applications - Residents are notified of some Development Applications 

where there is a legislative requirement to do so.  When an application is publicly 
notified, residents have the opportunity both to write to Council expressing their view 
on the application and to subsequently personally address the Council before a 
decision is made. 

• Local Area Traffic Management - Local residents may be consulted on design 
requirements for traffic management. 

• Resident Forums – Various forums are convened on an “as needed” basis to enable 
residents to discuss proposals that may affect them with both the Officers and Council 
members. 

 
Access to Council Documents 

 
A range of documents are available for public inspection at the Council Offices (free of 
charge) between the hours of 9am – 5pm Monday to Friday.  Members of the public may 
obtain copies of these documents from the Records Management Officer.  Requests can be 
made via the Council's website at www.gawler@sa.gov.au. 

 
Other Information Requests 
 
Requests for other information will be considered in accordance with the Freedom of 
Information Act.  Under this legislation, an application fee and a search fee must be 
forwarded with the completed request form, unless the application is granted an exemption. 
Should the applicant require copies of any documents inspected pursuant to a Freedom of 
Information request, the charges set out in the Freedom of Information Act will apply, unless 
the applicant is granted exemption.  
Members of the public may request access to Council documents concerning their personal 
affairs by completing a Freedom of Information request form outlining the records that they 
wish to inspect.  A request may then be made to correct any information about themselves that 
is incomplete, incorrect, misleading or out of date. 
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Freedom of information request forms are available at Councils Office and enquiries or 
requests should be addressed to: 

 
Accredited Freedom of Information Officer 
Town of Gawler 
P O Box 130 
GAWLER  SA  5118 
 

Applications will be responded to as soon as possible within the statutory timeframe of 
Council receiving the properly completed Freedom of Information request form, together with 
the application and search fees. No Freedom of Information determinations were issued under 
the Local Government Freedom of Information Act in the twelve months to 30 June, 2006.   
 
 
Elected Members Attendance  

• Council 
• Committees 

 
The following is the record of attendance of Elected Members for the period 1 June 2005 to  
23 May 2006 financial year for Council and its Committees.  
 
During this period: 

• Mayor Tony Piccolo resigned upon his election to State Parliament 
• Cr Dawkins became Mayor as of 29 March 2006 due to the resignation of Tony 

Piccolo 
• Cr Thom became Deputy Mayor as of 29 March 2006 

 
Full Council Meetings 

Attended 
(out of 23) 

Leave of
Absence 
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Piccolo 18    
Dep Mayor Dawkins 21 2   
Cr Thom 23    
Cr Arandle 23    
Cr Bartlett 22  1  
Cr Dibben 14 1 8  
Cr Ferguson 16 7   
Cr Fischer 22  1  
Cr Morris 22  1  
Cr Skewes 10 2 11  
Cr Strauss 18  5  
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Economic & 

Community Services 
Committee* 

Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 12) 

Leave of
Absence
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Piccolo 11  1  
Dep Mayor Dawkins 11  1  
Cr Arandle 12    
Cr Dibben 10  2  
Cr Ferguson (Chair) 10 1 1  
Cr Fischer 10  2  
Cr Strauss 9  3  

 
*As of 23 May 2006 this committee was reformed as the Corporate & Community Services 
Committee following a review by council of Delegations. 
 

Infrastructure & 
Environmental 

Services Committee 

Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 12) 

Leave of
Absence
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Piccolo 9  1  
Cr Thom 12    
Cr Bartlett 11  1  
Cr Dibben (Chair) 12    
Cr Ferguson 10 2   
Cr Morris 11  1  
Cr Skewes 7 1 4  

 
 

Corporate 
Governance 
Committee* 

Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 3) 

Leave of
Absence
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Piccolo 3    
Cr Dawkins (Chair) 2 1   
Cr Thom 3    
Cr Dibben 1  2  
Cr Ferguson 2  1  
Cr Strauss 3    

 
*As of 23 May 2006 this committee was reformed as the Governance & Strategy Committee 
following a review by council of Delegations. 
 
The following is the record of attendance of Elected Members for the period of 23 May 2006 
to 30 June 2006 financial year for Council and its Committees.  
 
During this period: 

• Cr Dawkins became Mayor as of 29 March 2006 due to the resignation of Tony 
Piccolo 

• Cr Thom became Deputy Mayor as of 29 March 2006 
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Full Council Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 2) 

Leave of
Absence 
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Dawkins 2    
Dep Mayor Thom  2   
Cr Arandle 2    
Cr Bartlett 2    
Cr Dibben   2  
Cr Ferguson 1 1   
Cr Fischer 2    
Cr Morris 2    
Cr Skewes 1  1  
Cr Strauss 2    

 
 

Corporate & 
Community Services 

Committee 

Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 1) 

Leave of
Absence 
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Dawkins 1    
Dep Mayor Thom  1   
Cr Arandle 1    
Cr Dibben   1  
Cr Ferguson 1    
Cr Fischer 1    
Cr Strauss (Chair) 1    

 
 

Infrastructure & 
Environmental 

Services Committee 

Meetings 
Attended 
(out of 1) 

Leave of
Absence 
Granted 

Apology 
Recorded 

Nothing 
Recorded 

Mayor Dawkins 1    
Dep Mayor Thom  1   
Cr Bartlett 1    
Cr Fischer (Chair) 1    
Cr Morris 1    
Cr Skewes   1  
Cr Strauss 1    
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Council Participation in the LGA and ALGA, and any other Regional Organisations 
 
Council participates in a number of external committees, boards and associations involving 
elected members, staff and the public.  Currently they are:  
 

• Gawler Development Assessment Panel 
• Gawler Business Development Board 
• Gawler River Junction Committee 
• Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 
• NAWMA 
• Local Government Association 
• Local Government Finance Authority 
• Adelaide and Mount Lofty Ranges Natural Resources Management Board 
• Gawler Community House 
• Gawler Horse Festival 
 
 

Elected Members Allowances 
 
Section 76 of the Local Government Act 1999 provides that each member of a council is 
entitled to receive an annual allowance for performing and discharging official functions and 
duties. 
Council has adopted the following allowance structure 
 
Elected Member              Annual Allowance June 05 to July 06 
Mayor  $20,520 
Deputy Mayor $  8,556 
Presiding Councillors: (Deputy Mayor) Helena Dawkins 
(Deputy Mayor) Brian Thom(29/03), David Ferguson, 
Warren Dibben, David Strauss(23/05), Kevin Fischer 
(23/05) 

$  6,888 

Councillors: Ian Skewes, Lillian Bartlett, David Arandle, 
David Strauss, Greg Morris, Kevin Fischer, Warren 
Dibben, David Ferguson 

$  5,436 

 



17 

 
Elected Member  Actual Allowance Paid for 2005/06 
Mayor Tony Piccolo $17,140 
Mayor Helena Dawkins $  4,567 
Deputy Mayor Helena Dawkins $  8,993 
Deputy Mayor Brian Thom $  3,144 
Cr Brian Thom $  4,732 
Cr David Arandle $  6,202 
Cr Lillian Bartlett $  6,202 
Cr Warren Dibben $   453 
Presiding Member Cr Warren Dibben $  7,210 
Cr David Ferguson $   688 
Presiding Member Cr David Ferguson $ 7,210 
Cr Kevin Fischer $ 4,720 
Presiding Member Kevin Fischer $ 1,180 
Cr Gregory Morris $ 4,202 
Cr Ian Skewes $ 6,102 
Cr David Strauss $ 4,732 
Presiding Member David Strauss $ 1,770 

 
 
Council Representation Quota 
Comparative Representation 
 
The Town of Gawler total representation quota (The number of electors for each Councillor) 
is 1:1444 (14,439 Electors). A comparative table below compares local and similar sized 
Councils to the Town of Gawler. 
 

Council       
 Ratio  
Town of Gawler (14,439 Electors) 
 1:144
4 
Barossa (15,636) 
 1:202
7 
Light (8,783)  1:  
878 
Murray Bridge (13,498) 
 1:149
9 
Whyalla (14,624) 
 1:146
2 
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Periodic Review S12(5) 
 
At the 27th September 2005 Town of Gawler Council meeting, Council adopted the following 
motion for 2005 Periodic Review: 
 
 Retain the Office of Mayor; 
 Not divide the Council into wards; and  
 Retain the number of Area Councillors to ten (10). 

 
 
Procedures available for Electors to make Submissions on Representation 
 
In 2005, a Periodic Review commenced, pursuant to the provisions of Section 12(5) of the 
Local Government Act 1999 (the ‘Act’), to determine whether a change of arrangements in 
respect to elector representation, including the re-introduction of Wards, and the number of 
Councillors was required. Public Consultation including advertisements in the Advertiser, 
Bunyip, Herald and Messenger Newspapers, was conducted to invite submissions on the 
future composition of Council.  
 
Under Section 12(7ii) and 12(9bii) of the Act, Council must allow Electors to make written 
submissions on the representation during a review and Council must give any person who 
makes written submissions in response to an invitation under subsection (9) an opportunity to 
appear personally or by representative before the council or a council committee and to be 
heard on those submissions.  
 
During the review a number of written submissions were made and these electors were invited 
to appear personally to speak to Council on their views. Additionally under Section 12 of the 
Act a report was commissioned from C.L. Rowe and Associates to provide research, advice 
and recommendations to Council on the future composition of Council. 
 
 
Staff and Management Structure 
 
Chief Executive Officer - Neil Jacobs 
 
The Chief Executive Officer is ultimately responsible for all of the activities and services 
provided by Council. Responsibility for most day-to-day decisions and service activities is 
delegated to the Senior Manager positions. 
 
Neil Jacobs has been Chief Executive Officer of Town of Gawler for 18 months. 
 
He was Chief Executive Officer of Hindmarsh Shire Council in Western Victoria for 5 years 
and General Manager of a Council-owned regional water and wastewater business in 
Rockhampton, Queensland.    He has worked for seven Councils over 25 years; in three states. 
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He has a Master of Business Administration and Graduate Diploma in Business Management 
from Monash University, and a Bachelor of Business (Local Government) from RMIT.   He is 
a member of Local Government Managers Australia. 
 
He serves on the Boards of the Gawler River Floodplain Authority, Trinity College 
Foundation, and Gawler Health Service.   He lives in Gawler with his family; and his interests 
include winemaking, sport, theatre, and music. 
 
Director, Corporate and Community Services - Malcolm Crout 
 
Malcolm Crout joined the Town of Gawler in February 2006 and was previously the General 
Manager Corporate and Community Services with the District Council of Mount Barker for 
five years.   Prior to local government he was employed in senior roles within the private 
sector in and outside of Australia.  A seven year stint in New Zealand was followed by 
working in South East Asia with State and Federal Government. 
 
He has a Bachelor of Commerce (Adelaide), a Masters Degree in Business Administration 
(Adelaide) and is a member of the CPA's Australia, the National Institute of Accountants and 
the South Australian Rate Administrators Association.   He served on the Board of Monarto 
Quarries Inc and Mount Barker Caravan Park Inc. His interests include hobby farming, 
reading and spending time with his family. 
 
The Director Corporate and Community Services is ultimately responsible for administration 
and financial responsibilities of Council; and Community Development, including the Gawler 
Public Library, the Sport and Recreation Centre, the Trevor Bellchambers Swimming Pool 
and the Elderly Centre. 
 
Senior Manager, Infrastructure and Environmental Services – Terry Spurling 
 
Terry Spurling has been a Senior Manager at Gawler Council for two and a half years. 
 
He has worked as a Local Government Engineer in nine Councils over thirty years including, 
City Engineer at the City of Whyalla, the City of Kensington and Norwood and the Town of 
Thebarton.  He has also worked in private industry as a consulting engineer and owned and 
managed his own small business. 
 
He has a Bachelor of Engineering (Civil) from Adelaide University, and Graduate Diploma in 
Municipal Engineering from University of South Australia. 
 
He is a member of the Northern Adelaide Waste Management Authority (NAWMA) Board 
and serves on the Gawler Development Assessment Panel and the State Recovery 
Committee.  He lives in Hamley Bridge with his wife where they own and operate a small 
beef cattle enterprise.  His interests include tinkering with old farm machinery, reading and 
relaxing. 
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Section Three: Strategic Governance 
 

• Progress on Strategic Plan 
• Public Works 
• Information technology 
• Library 
• Community development 
• Gawler Sport & Community centre 
• Trevor Bellchambers Swimming centre 
• Governance 
• EM training 
• Human Resource Training 
• Economic Development 
• Environmental Health 
• Building 
• Data related to EEO program 
• Community land Management plans 
• Occupational Health and Safety issues 
• Development Plans, Development Assessments and Appeals 

 
 
 

 
 

Murray Street, Gawler, 1907.  Celebrating the Jubilee of  
Local Government and Gawler Institute 
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Progress on Strategic Plan  
 
Vision (our shared view of our future - what we want to be): 
 
Gawler is a regional town with a unique character - defined by its heritage, landscape, 
architecture, and people.   Our community is diverse, prosperous, friendly, safe, healthy, 
democratic, and sustainable. 
 
Mission (why we exist - the business we are in): 
 
The Council has a critical role in nurturing, enhancing and guiding the Gawler community 
towards its Vision for the future.   We deliver local governance, services and facilities to: 

• enhance the quality of life of residents; 
• preserve a unique heritage; 
• achieve a balance between sustainable economic development, community 

development, and the environment; 
• stimulate economic activity to generate investment and employment; 
• build social capital and strengthen the community; and  
• engage in quality planning and initiatives to seek the best outcomes. 

 
Values (how we behave & how to judge our behaviour): 
 

• Our citizens come first - we serve the community; 
• Trust follows demonstrated honesty and integrity; 
• Clear, open and preferably personal communication; 
• Always consult; 
• Lead by example; 
• Teamwork, leadership, responsibility, and accountability; 
• Respect and courtesy; 
• Quality services and representation; 
• Listen to each other; 
• Embrace diversity and difference. 

 
Over the past 12 months Council has achieved significant results in relation to the strategic 
management plan.  Provided are the objectives from the strategic management plan and some 
of the key results that have been achieved. 
 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 1 A STRONG, HEALTHY, SAFE, LEARNING, AND 
TOLERANT COMMUNITY.  
 

• An improved level of Police Resources to serve the area, with a view to achieving a 
satisfactory 24-hour police presence - new Police Station completed.  Additional 
Police Resources to be committed to Gawler as advised by District Supt Pitt.   Local 
police are on duty on a 24 hour basis – but Gawler Police Station public hours are only 
office hours. 

 
• Establish an Australian Technical College or equivalent to improve education and 

training opportunities for regional youth - completed, but the successful program will 
be based at Elizabeth.   
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• Completion and implementation of a review of Management of the Gawler Sports and 

Community Centre.  
 

• Major extensions to the Gawler Sports and Community Centre – successful 
applications have secured $600,000 of grants towards the project, including a 
dedicated youth facility.  .   Construction to take place in 2006/07. 

 
• New library automation systems designed for implementation in 2006/07. 

 
• Commitment to prepare comprehensive Social Plan. 

 
• Completion of extensions at the Elderly Centre to improve the safety and accessibility. 

 
• Establishment of Gawler Volunteer Advisory Committee Management and Volunteer 

Resource Centre.   Some State Government funding secured. 
 

• Strategy adopted to seek to improve voter participation and candidate interest in 
November 2006 Council elections.    

 
• Ongoing participation with “Libraries for Learning Partnership – Northern Adelaide”.    

 
• Implementation of agreed parts of Town Centre Safety Audit. 

 
• Funding approved for Town Centre surveillance cameras. 

 
• Assisted the successful establishment of Gawler Art Gallery.    

 
• Completion of review Volunteer Development, Resourcing & Implementation Plan. 

 
• Continued identification and cataloguing of items belonging to the Gawler Civic 

Collection.    
 

• Preparation by Gawler Youth Advisory Committee of a Youth Strategic Plan. 
 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 2 EFFECTIVE PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT POLICIES, 
PROVIDE APPROPRIATE INFRASTRUCTURE TO MANAGE GROWTH, PRESERVE 
HERITAGE, AND ENHANCE THE NATURAL & BUILT ENVIRONMENT (PLANNING 
& ENVIRONMENT). 
 

• Participation in Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority and agreement on 
regional funding of Gawler River Flood Mitigation Infrastructure.    

 
• Successful completion of Gawler South/Evanston Infrastructure Study & Urban 

Development Master Plan 
 

• Review of policies for developer contributions for infrastructure in new residential 
areas.    
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• Successful biennial dog registration doorknock to promote responsible animal 
management.   . 

 
• Commitment to reduce the amount of waste to landfill, and increase recycling.    

 
• Ongoing refinement of Implementation plan for Town Centre Redevelopment. 

 
• Ongoing implementation of Town Centre Traffic Plan and Local Traffic Strategy.    

 
• Finalisation of design for upgrading of Apex Park. 

 
• Consideration of options for future uses of Goose Island.    

 
• Adoption of Master Plan for Evanston linear trail network. 

 
• Negotiation of options to promote pedestrian access between Jacob and Tod Streets, to 

endeavour to link the Post Office to the Woolworths/Big W complex 
 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 3 A PROSPEROUS ECONOMY; WITH SUSTAINABLE, 
CHALLENGING, REWARDING AND FULFILLING EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES. 
 

• Adoption of plan for 2007 Gawler Horse Festival, to recognise the economic 
importance of equine activities to the region.    

 
• Adoption of Gawler Tourism Strategic Plan. 

 
• Preparation of annual business plan for Economic Development and Tourism 

activities. 
 

• Implementation of service agreement for the provision of small business advisory 
services. 

 
• Preparation of contract & construction documentation for improved visitor amenities 

at the Gawler Caravan Park.    
 

• Investigation of options to improve and communicate the availability of broadband 
access. 

 
• Preparation of inventory of Gawler businesses, and published as an online database as 

part of Community Information and Business Directory. 
 

• Preparation of statistical comparison of the Gawler 2001 and 1996 census outcomes, 
identifying trends and deviances from the region and metropolitan area.  

 
• Assisted GBDB with the development of business & marketing plans for retail areas. 
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STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 4 THE BEST COUNCIL ORGANISATION TO SERVE THE 
GAWLER COMMUNITY. 
 

• Representations to influence positive change to regional governance arrangements.  
 

• Completion of review and implementation of changes to the organisation structure to 
improve efficiency, effectiveness, coordination, and service delivery.   

 
• Improved workplace safety by implementation of Local Government Association Risk 

Management Services recommended risk reduction initiatives.  
 

• Introduction of improved output/outcome focused position descriptions, new induction 
processes, new appraisal processes linked to training, and review conditions of 
employment to enhance the capacity of Gawler to recruit and retain high performing 
and qualified staff. 

 
• Improved property management (including lease administration) and maintenance 

activities.  
 

• Ongoing improvement in staff morale as measured by regular staff survey. 
 

• Publication of community newsletter, as part of a planned community communications 
strategy. 

 
• Completion of review of debt strategy. 

 
• Continuing professional, responsive and productive/cooperative relationship between 

Elected Members and Administration, as measured by survey.  
 

• Review the charters, activities and plans of the following subsidiaries - Gawler 
Business Development Board (Section 42), & NAWMA (Section 43).  

 
• Responsibility for grants facilitation and assisting community/cultural and sporting 

organisations to obtain grants, allocated to Manager Community Development.    
 
The new Strategic Plan 2006-2016 contains detailed projections, strategies and actions for the 
future and can be downloaded from the Council’s website. 
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Infrastructure & Environmental Services Department 
 
The Infrastructure & Environmental Services Department carries responsibility for functional 
areas of Planning and Building, Public Works, Environmental Health, General Inspectorial 
Services and Property Management. 
 
In addition to a range of routine statutory functions the Department’s multi disciplinary team 
has been engaged in a number of major undertakings, some of which will continue for a 
number of years.  Projects such as the Town Centre Redevelopment and Traffic Management, 
the Evanston Linear Park, the Southern Urban Areas Infrastructure Master Plan and the 
Gawler Sport and Community Centre expansion will continue from the initial planning stages 
this year to construction projects over future years. 
 
Major flooding in November not only consumed time and resources in ‘mopping up’ 
operations but has given rise to a review of Council’s emergency response, recovery and 
general risk management capabilities that will lead to improved response and lower risk of 
damage in future. 
 
Staff movements throughout the year have led to the integration of former Technical Services 
and Operations sections into Public Works Division with consequent improvements in 
internal communication and responsiveness. 
 
Public Works Report 
 

 
 

Councils Construction and Maintenance and Parks and Garden Staff 
 

Left to Right Kevin Hayman, Gary Watson, Joe Elworthy, Grant Hemmerling, Richard 
Haylock, Luke McCracken, Harry Seal, Kevin Randall, Brad McDermott, Peter Murray,  
Vin Hallion, Tyson Swain, Tony Bizzai, Barry Chammen, Howard Bell, Chris Bonython, 
Ken Middleton, Daniel Brown 
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Public Works Customer Requests 
 
During the 2005/06 year Council received 2180 Public Works Customer Requests and 
completed to 2190 within the period. 
 
Type of Customer Request Number of Requests Percent of Total Requests 
 
Cemetery 

 
120 

 
5.5% 

Entranceways 39 1.8% 
European Wasp 18 0.8% 
Fencing 40 1.8% 
Footpath 162 7.4% 
Lighting 7 0.3% 
Not Council 8 0.4% 
Other 41 1.9% 
Reserves 216 9.9% 
Roads 207 9.5% 
Rubbish 75 3.4% 
Signs 239 11.0% 
Street Furniture 11 0.5% 
Stormwater 169 7.8% 
Tree 730 33.5% 
Vermin 75 3.4% 
 
A large proportion of Customer Requests were associated with Tree Maintenance 
 
Customer Requests by Tree Number of Requests Percent of Total Tree 

Requests 
 
Litter 

 
73 

 
10.0% 

Maintenance 446 61.0% 
Other 55 7.5% 
Planting 50 6.8% 
Private 17 2.3% 
Removal 89 12.2% 
 
Customer Requests were completed within the following periods 
 
Period Number of Requests Percent Completed within 

the Period Nominated 
 
0 – 5 days 

 
1130 

 
51.6% 

6 – 15 days 474 21.6% 
16 -30 days 189 8.6% 
+ 30 days 397 18.1% 
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CUSTOMER ACTION REQUESTS MONTHLY TOTALS
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CUSTOMER ACTION REQUESTS OVER 13 MONTHS
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Construction & Maintenance of Roads 
 
Council’s budget for Maintenance of Infrastructure within the road environments during the 
2005/06 budget was $1.25 million dollars.  The following provides a breakdown of where 
these funds were expended. 
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Activity Area Percent of Total Maintenance 

Budget for Roads 
 
Collection of Litter and Rubbish (excluding kerbside 
collection) 

 
1.0% 

Fence Repairs and Replacement 0.2% 
Footpath Repairs Bitumen 1.1% 
Footpath Repairs Concrete 7.0% 
Footpath Repairs Natural Surface 2.0% 
Garden Bed Maintenance 0.2% 
Cutting Lawns & Grass 1.8% 
Weed Spraying 7.0% 
Kerb Repairs 7.0% 
Road Line Marking 5.0% 
Repairs to Sealed Roads 14.0% 
Traffic Control Signs 5.0% 
Street Sign Maintenance 5.0% 
Tree & Shrub Maintenance within Road Reserves 20.0% 
Vandalism 0.3% 
Surveying 0.05% 
Garden Bed Irrigation 0.1% 
Fertilise / Aerate & Topdressing 0.1% 
Pipes & Drains Repair 0.07% 
Road Grading 0.05% 
Road Pavement Repairs 12.0% 
Street Furniture Repairs 0.02% 
Storm Damage 1.0% 
Private Works 0.03% 
Miscellaneous Maintenance Works 10.0% 
 
In addition to the above Capital Works included the following 
 
Footpath Construction Metres 
 
Daly Street 

 
175 

Edith Street 130 
McKinlay Avenue 100 
Princess Street 150 
Sheriff Street 120 
Nixon Terrace 170 
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Urban Road Resealing Sq/Metres 
 
Hill Street (Parking Area) 

 
3,000 

Third Street 3,072 
Second Street 2,304 
Margaret Street 17,971 
High Street 2,530 
Tingara Road 3,551 
Sunnyside Drive 3,517 
Murray Street 2,144 
Seventh Street 7,680 

 

 
 

Construction of the New Tod Street Roundabout 
 
Maintenance of Parks & Gardens 
Council’s budget for Maintenance of its 71 Parks & Gardens and numerous planted road 
verge areas during the 2005/06 budget was just over $0.4 million.  The following provides a 
breakdown of where these funds were expended. 
 
Activity Area Percent of Total Maintenance 

Budget for Parks & Gardens 
 
Cutting Lawns & Grass 

 
30.0% 

Fertilise / Aerate & Top dress 6.0% 
Irrigation 25.0% 
Weed Spraying 2.0% 
Weeding Garden Beds 4.0% 
Repair & Replacement of Fences 1.0% 
Play Equipment Maintenance 2.0% 
Furniture Maintenance 1.0% 
Tree & Shrub Maintenance & Planting 9.0% 
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Activity Area Percent of Total Maintenance 

Budget for Parks & Gardens 
 
Vandalism 

 
1.5% 

Garden Bed Planting 2.5% 
Garden Bed Irrigation 0.5% 
Footpath Repairs 0.2% 
Collection of Litter & Rubbish 0.1% 
Storm Damage 0.1% 
Pits & Sumps Cleaning 0.1% 
Miscellaneous Maintenance Works 15.0% 
 
As a result of the Development of New Urban Areas, the following reserves were 
incorporated into Councils maintenance program, without allocation of additional funds, 
Vadoulis Reserve, Potts Road Reserve, Pike Way Reserve, Britha Street Reserve, McGonigal 
Road Reserve 
 

 
 

New Planting on Adelaide road at the War Memorial 
 
Maintenance of Ovals & Sport & Recreation Facilities 
 
Council’s budget for Maintenance of its 8 Sport and Recreation Grounds, including 11 Ovals 
during the 2005/06 budget was just over $0.44 million.  The following provides a breakdown 
of where these funds were expended. 
 
Activity Area Percent of Total Maintenance 

Budget for Parks & Gardens 
 
Cutting Lawns & Grass 

 
22.0% 

Fertilise / Aerate & Top dress 12.0% 
Irrigation 30.0% 
Weed Spraying 1.2% 
Maintaining & Weeding Garden Beds 0.65% 
Repair & Replacement of Fences 1.2% 
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Activity Area Percent of Total Maintenance 

Budget for Parks & Gardens 
Furniture Maintenance 0.5% 
Tree & Shrub Maintenance & Planting 2.0% 
Vandalism 2.0% 
Pitches Maintenance 2.0% 
Collection of Litter & Rubbish 0.4% 
Storm Damage 0.05% 
Play Equipment Maintenance 1.0% 
Miscellaneous Maintenance Works 25.0% 
 
In addition to the above, $20,000 was spent on new and replacement Play Equipment and 
softfall, and approximately $30,000 on Natural Water Course Maintenance. 
 
 

      
 
A Tree Planting Day with Local Schools at Potts Road Reserve 
 
Waste Management and Street & Public Toilets Cleaning 
 
Waste Management including Domestic Waste Collection, Kerbside Recycling and Green 
Waste Collection for 8,500-9,000 properties was provided during 2005/06 for a cost of just 
short of $1 million. 
 
In addition to the above, Councils Handyperson/s provided rubbish collection services town 
wide, emptying and cleaning some 178 rubbish, cigarette butt and dog tidy bins on a regular 
basis. 
 
Council Waste Transfer Station in Willaston continued to be popular 1,858 tonnes of garden 
waste and general refuse discarded for a prescribed fee.   All refuse is sorted and all 
recyclables transferred to other sites for use. 
 
Regular Street Sweeping & Cleaning continued throughout 2005/06 and each of Councils 7 
Public Toilets were cleaned every day. 
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Willaston Cemetery Report 
 
The number of burials at the Willaston Cemetery during the 2005/06 period is indicated 
below. 
 
Type of Burial Number of Burials Leases 
 
General Section 50 

New 
4 

Renewed 
1 

Lawn Area 17 16  
Niche Wall 16 17  
Rose Garden 21 25  
 
28 enquiries were received by persons wishing to investigate family history and the 
construction of the Stillborn Memorial was commenced, due for completion in 2006/07. 
 

  
 
Construction of the Stillborn Memorial  Establishment of New Garden Beds 
 
Technical Services Report 
 
The Technical Service Section provides the following services: 
 
 Asset Management Services 
 Strategic Infrastructure Planning Services 
 Engineering Design Services for Roads, Traffic & Storm Water Management 
 Engineering Assessment for Land Divisions and Development Applications 
 Traffic Engineering Services 
 Parking Planning & Management Services 
 Contract Management Services 
 Emergency Management Services 
 Road Event Management Services 
 Storm Water Management Services 
 Landscape Design Services 

 
 
In terms of specific projects undertaken during 2005/06, the Technical Services Section was 
involved in, but not limited to, the following projects, studies and investigations. 
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 Development of the Evanston Park Open Space Network Plan 
 Commence a review of Facilities in Council Parks and Reserves 
 Traffic Safety Audit of Hillier & Wingate Roads Intersection 
 Relocation of War Memorials 
 Development of the Evanston South and Evanston Park Structure Plan 
 Stillborn Memorial 
 Reviewing Speed Zoning on Arterial Roads 
 Investigations surrounding the Floods of November 2005 
 Pioneer Park Design 
 Footpath Program and Policy Development 
 Rivers Junction Works 
 Tiver Road, Infrastructure Planning 
 Multi Level Car Park Security 
 Clean Up Australia Day 
 Safe Routes to School 
 Sheriff Street & Mount Terrace Roundabout Proposal 
 Light Square Traffic Management 
 Apex Park Up-Grade 
 Drainage Issues Gozzard Street and Bella Street 

 

 
 

Nov 2005 Floods 
Sand Bagging Works 
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The full list of projects for 2006/07: 
 
ITEM EST. COST 
Road Reconstruction (Renewal of Existing)  
Helen Street $      36,000 
Finniss Street (East of Reid Street) $      50,000 
Drury Street, Willaston (Ayling Street to Main North Road) $      65,000 
Milne Road, Kudla (Athol Road to 450m North) + Drainage $      72,000 
Water Lane, Gawler South (Seventh Street to Sixth Street) $      47,000 
George Lane, Gawler South (Sixth Street to Fifth Street) $      35,000 
Paternoster Road $    120,000 
Other Road Construction (New Roads)  
Holmes Street, Willaston (Kelly Road to 260m North) $    120,000 
Footpaths Construction  
Thomas Terrace (Nixon to Porter) $      11,200 
Edith Street (Railway to Murray) $      16,100 
Second Street (Third to Fifth) $      60,000 
Richards Avenue (Lynch to Crosby) $      14,000 
Developer Footpaths   
Copperfield Estate $    200,000 
Town Centre Redevelopment  
Light Square Roundabout $      25,000 
Murray Street Redevelopment General $    380,000 
Murray Street South Design $      25,000 
Traffic Management  
Sherrif Road Roundabout $      40,000 
Road Reseals: (Hotmix Resealing)  
Barkla Street (Hidson Road to Hillier Road) $      10,180 
Hill Street (Third Street to Sheriff Street) $      14,873 
Gosford Street (Existing to Brigalo) $      11,606 
Murray Street (Barber Street to Princess Street) $      17,220 
Road Reseals: (Single Coat Resealing Program)  
Barker Street (Princess Street to Paxton Street) $        3,695 
Farrow Road (Para to House No. 35) $        8,221 
Fifth Street (Adelaide Road to Seventh Street) $      20,562 
Pendrith Ave (Ryde Street to Brigalo Street) $      20,562 
Popham Ave (Cheek Avenue to Barossa Ave) $        7,560 
Rural Road Sealing - Westdown Road (+ Drainage Works) $      62,000 
Rural Road Re-Sheeting  
Athol Road (existing to 300m north) $      12,636 
Badman Road (Hillier Road to Angle Vale Road) $      18,954 
Clifford Road (Hillier Road to End) $      31,590 
Cooper Road (Campania Road to End) $      15,795 
Capital Projects  
North Para River Flood Mitigation $    258,000 
Evanston Linear Park Stage 1 Implementation $    150,000 
Council Depot Washdown Bay Cover $      15,000 
Playground Upgrades $      20,000 
Eleventh Street Car Park $    135,000 
Town Centre (south) Car Park $    150,000 
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Swimming Pool Capital $      44,000 
Civic Centre investigations/remediation (part) $    100,000 
Caravan Park $    500,000 
Caravan Park - New Loan $    200,000 
Sport & Community Centre building extensions (youth) $    900,000 
Easement Purchase & costs  $    124,000 
Library Materials  $      72,500 
Recreation Pavilion floor $      50,000 
Town Centre Cameras $    100,000 
Croquet Club – Replace Septic  $      12,000 
NON CAPITAL  
Street Numbering Program $        5,000 
Catchment Plan - Bella Street Catchment $      20,000 
Wakefield Regional Group Contribution $        4,000 
150th Celebrations $      20,000 
Christmas Celebrations $      20,000 
TOTAL $ 4,471,254 

 
 
Information Technology 
A major project undertaken by the IT Department during the last 12 months was the upgrade 
and data migration of the Authority System. Authority integrates the essential accounting, 
administrative, property, customer service, knowledge base and management functions of the 
Council. This project involved both hardware and software upgrades and required a 
significant effort by all staff involved.  Extensive staff training on the use of the new program 
interface was an important part of the project.  Data migration to the new server occurred over 
a weekend to reduce the amount of disruption to business and staff and the new system came 
on line first thing the following Monday, 26 September 2005.  A few teething issues that were 
identified were quickly and successfully addressed resulting in minimal interruption. 
 
A Data Disaster Recovery Plan program was successfully tested during a major hardware 
failure of one of Council’s main network servers during the year. All data was recovered from 
the backup without any significant loss of information. 
 
In May 2006 a new Intranet was launched through Council’s network to allow staff to use 
state of the art technology for information sharing and document collaboration - benefits that 
will help increase individual and team productivity.  IT Staff have also worked throughout the 
year on improving the content and functionality of the Council website – 
www.gawler.sa.gov.au. Key staff across Council undertook training to be able to enhance and 
update documents and information on the web page within their departments, resulting in 
better streamlining of information. 
 
Development and optimisation of Council’s computer network, communication systems, 
hardware and software continued throughout the year to meet the demands of the community, 
Elected Members and staff, as well as ongoing upgrades and maintenance, software and 
security updates and other systems improvements. 
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Records Management 
Council received a State Records Audit on adequate record keeping in December, 2005.  
From the Audit findings and recommendations Council is developing a 5 year Records Plan. 
This year has seen the introduction of incoming document scanning and attachment into 
Council’s corporate Authority database.   
Annual Records Sentencing projects have continued with inactive records being transferred to 
State Records and Ausdoc (Recall) storage facilities. 
 
Library and Community Information Services 
 
Gawler Public Library continues to provide a major social and information centre for the 
residents and visitors alike.   It also plays a leadership role in the cultural and creative life of 
the community.   
 
With 22,513 registered borrowers and over 100,000 visits annually (or an average of 400 per 
day) the library offers a range of services to library users.  Besides the annual total of 270,230 
loans many people use the free internet service, enjoy the quiet atmosphere of the historic 
reading room or use the research and reference skills provided by library staff.   
 
During the year the reading room was wireless enabled allowing internet access to be 
expanded to users with laptops or other devices with wireless capacity. 
 
Community information 
The 2006 edition of the Gawler Community Information & Business Directory was published. 
The directory lists over 350 community organisations and a comprehensive listing of local 
businesses. Over 8,000 copies were delivered to all households in the Council area and 
another 4,000 were made available for collection from all eight Council sites. For the first 
time the Community Information database used to produce the directory was published online 
at www.gawler.sa.gov.au .  In conjunction with Council’s Economic Development section a 
joint initiative has been entered into with the Gawler Development Board for the provision of 
information and maps. 
 
Local History 
Cataloguing, including the digital recording of the Gawler Civic Collection has commenced. 
The records will be added to the library catalogue enabling increased public access to the 
collection. During the year the Library joined with six local organisations involved in history 
to provide a combined Celebrate SA History Week in Gawler event.  This group, known as the 
Gawler Historical Network continues to liaise on areas of cooperation including future plans 
for the development of the community archives and museum.  The Gawler Heritage Database 
project, a volunteer project in conjunction with the Gawler Environment & Heritage 
Association and the Significant Women’s History Project continued to gather and promote 
aspects of Gawler’s significant social and economic history. 
 
Lifelong learning 
Regular Internet and email training sessions have been held with referrals on to other training 
providers as needed.  The Reader advisory service has been extended to assist users to identify 
what they would like to read next.  Two Book Clubs and a Play Reading Group are supported.   
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Outreach services 
The Home Visiting Service was extended to two monthly runs to deliver to 39 people unable 
to access the library.  This is in addition the residents of 3 local nursing & retirement homes 
who receive monthly couriered deliveries of library items.  A Library Depot at the Sports & 
Community Centre was established to provide an access point for the return and collection of 
library items away from the busy main street.  Regular visits and presentations have been 
made to community groups and professional networks promoting the services of the library 
and the skills of library staff.   
 
Children’s & Youth Services 
Weekly pre-school storytelling sessions continue to be popular with parents and grandparents.  
The launch of the Little Big Book Club in conjunction with the midwives from the Gawler 
Health Service was successful.  School holiday activities, Children’s Book Week and the 
National Simultaneous Storytelling Session continue to delight young people and have 
brought many new faces into the library.  Liaison with the Youth Advisory Committee 
resulted in the development of a SACE support program used to expand and explain the 
Library’s assistance with Year 11 & 12 school students.  Work experience has been provided 
to three students from local high schools. 
 
Volunteers and donations 
Friends of Gawler Library continue to actively support the library through the promotion of 
library services, hosting of library events, fund-raising and the provision of a valued forum for 
feedback and advice.  Several library projects received financial support from the Friends 
including Children’s Holiday activities and the establishment of a Children’s Reader set.  Five 
volunteers gift the Library with their time, assisting with many tasks ranging from technical 
services to local history to home visiting.  Significant donations including items for inclusion 
into our collections, items to support the Friends book sales, mobility items for library users 
and storytelling materials have been received.  The presentation to Council of an 1863 map of 
Gawler Town by Mr Craig Barnet, a collection of Australian military memorials and texts by 
the Gawler Branch of the RSL and items from the decommissioning of the HMAS Gawler 
have greatly enhanced the Gawler Historical Collection. 
 
Creative and Cultural 
The Library was a participant in the Gawler Textile Weekend combining with the Gawler 
Embroiders to present a display of work and historical items in the reading room.  In October 
2005 the results of the Gawler National Short Story Competition were announced and the 
resultant publication – Naming of the Tortoise and other stories was launched.  This 
celebration was combined with the celebration of the 20th anniversary of the Gawler Public 
Library.  In April 2006 the Gawler Poetry Competition was opened with winners to be 
announced in September 2006 in conjunction with the running of the Gawler Poetry Cup. 
 
Partnerships 
The Library has been an active participant in: 

• Libraries for Learning Partnership (Salisbury, Playford and Gawler public and high 
school libraries and the University of South Australia)  

• LINK (Barossa, Light and Clare & Gilbert Valley Council public library consortium) 
• Gawler & Region teacher librarian hub meetings 
• Discussions with Department of Education and the Gawler Health Service regarding 

an Early Childhood Development Centre  
• Mid north school community and public library meetings 
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• Gawler Historical Network (Gawler Branch of the National Trust; Gawler Community 
Gallery; Gawler Community Heritage Database; Gawler Environment& Heritage 
Association; Gawler Public Library; Gawler’s Significant Women History Project and 
Gawler’ Visitor Information Centre) 

• Gawler Community Forum 
 

 
From left to right: 
Anne Halliday [Reference & Research Librarian]; Denise McCann [Customer Services 
Librarian]; Nola Cavallaro [Youth & Children’s Services Librarian]; Karen Carmody [Inter 
Library Loans Officer]; Annette Hoff [Home Visiting Coordinator]; Kay O’Brien [Library 
Technician]; Lyn Jones [Community Information Officer]; Carmel Tajnikar [Library 
Assistant] 
 
 

 
Helen Hennessy (Manager Library & Community Information Services) 
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Community Development Department 

 
 

 
 
 

The Community Development Department within Council is a multi facetted dynamic area 
with the prime goal of supporting and improving the wellbeing of the Gawler community.  
 
The department recognises a community of diverse culture with fundamental rights of access 
to services and opportunities that support quality of life across all age groups. It has a social 
justice focus working toward building a strong and self reliant community by being 
responsive to community need and supporting the community’s capacity to address issues. 
 
Role 
 Facilitate links between the community, organisations, and other spheres of Government. 

• To encourage a community that is informed, responsible, and self reliant. 
• To work toward improving the social and cultural conditions of the Gawler community. 
• To consult and collaborate with the community; to enable them to be part of decision 

making as appropriate. 
• To plan, develop and implement concepts, projects and services that benefit the 

community. 
• To support organisations and programs that benefits the community. 
 
The Town of Gawler is a regional centre of approximately 20,000 people with a catchment of 
approximately 80,000 people. The catchment areas are those that impact on the services 
within Gawler. These include portions of Kapunda and Light, Barossa, Mallala, Playford and 
the Northern Adelaide Hills.  
 
As our community grows, estimated at 1.2% annually, so does its needs and this necessitates 
the importance for good planning. The proposed growth in the Evanston South, Evanston 
Gardens and Hillier areas, once approved for development is a good example. This is 
estimated to increase the Gawler population by approximately 7,000 people over a seven to 
eight year period.  
 
This department has initiated a variety of processes that will enable it to compile a 
Community Development Plan. The objective of the Plan is to address the human service 
needs of the Gawler community with relevant strategies and actions through to 2012. 
Extensive consultation has commenced with service providers, the general community and 
relevant Government Departments. Research will also consider other relevant plans. 
 
The human service needs of the community include: 

- health (physical, sexual, mental)   - education 
- employment      - transport 
- welfare 
- sport and recreation (active, passive, competitive)  - information and support 
- crime prevention/ safety     - art and culture 
- housing/accommodation    - emergency relief 
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The department is continually evolving and evaluating processes and outcomes. In addition to 
the support Council provides community groups in the maintenance of facilities and grounds, 
Council facilitates an annual Community Grants Program totalling $32,500 for the 06/07 
period. This process is repeatedly being refined to ensure its development into a 
contemporary, easy to use and equitable program. 
 
There have been many successes over the previous 12 month period as listed in the body of 
this report. We are confident of meeting the many challenges ahead in a proactive and 
consistent way. Our focus will be to take action on the strategies outlined in Council’s 
Strategic Plan and the Community Development Plan which will ultimately benefit the 
Gawler Community. 
 
Youth 
The welfare of young people continues to be an important focus with the development of a 
variety programs and services that support young people in Gawler. 
 
Skate Park Project “Beyond 2006”. 
‘’Streetwise Coaching Jam Sessions” is a school holiday program aimed at the grassroots 
level of skateboarding. It is intended for young people aged between 6-17 years old, with a 
focus on promoting enjoyment of the sport to create an awareness of the safety equipment 
required, as well as a healthy and active lifestyle.  
 
Drug Intervention Program. 
The Town of Gawler continues to support DRUG ARM (SOS) 
The aim of the Northern SOS is mobile support, referral, and  
information service. It targets individuals who are experiencing harm  
associated with alcohol and other drug use, homelessness, mental health and the criminal 
justice system. The primary target population of the SOS is young people (12 - 25), however, 
the SOS program will respond to a broader age group if in need. 
 
Gawler Youth Awards 2005. 
The Town of Gawler held the fourth Gawler Young Achievers Awards in November 2005 
with strong support and encouragement from the community. The fifth Gawler Youth Awards 
will be held during April 2007 as a part of the National Youth Week celebrations.  
 
The objective is to educate young people that the awards focus on personal best and personal 
achievements, rather than being in competition with other young people. The awards pay 
recognition to our young people for trying their best in their chosen field and that by 
recognising and celebrating the achievements of our young people. All the awards are donated 
by local business and community groups consisting of cash and other benefits. 
 
The Award categories are: 
 

 Academic Achievement  
 Community Involvement & Leadership 
 Environmental  
 Professional/Work 
 Apprentice/Trainee 
 Young Musician 
 Small Business 
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 Young athlete 
 Performance Art 
 Visual art 
 Work Placement/Volunteer Pathways 
 Life Choices 

 
National Youth Week 2006: 
April 1-9 called ‘Just Add You.’   
 
National Youth Week provides many opportunities for young people to get involved and be 
active at a local, State and National level. Gawler Youth Week in 2006 included a youth Art 
exhibition, a Literacy Competition and Personal Development workshops.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The Gawler Youth Advisory Committee (YAC) is an official committee of Council. The 
committee’s role is to recognise and voices the issues, views and ideas of young people and 
promote a positive image of young people within the Gawler community.  It is an active 
group aged between 15-25 that meets regularly to discuss and act upon local and state youth 
issues. The YAC’s aims are to serve the community and act in an advisory capacity to the 
staff and Elected Members of the Town of Gawler. 
Some of the initiatives the YAC have organized and or participated in are: 

• Rooftop Rampage.  
• Gawler Young Achievers Awards 2005.  
• Special Council meetings and presentations.  
• Youth Week 06. 
• Drug action week. 
• Gawler Show. 

 
Innovative Community Action Network (ICAN):  
Gawler “15” Youth Training Kitchen. 
 
A collaborative project between Council and Gawler High school, it provided 14 young 
people aged between 15 and 18 years an opportunity to gain hands on training in hospitality, 
specifically in kitchen operations. Accredited training was delivered by TAFE SA at the brand 
new commercial training kitchen, located in the Gawler House Enterprise Centre on Barnet 
Road. The project was funded by ICAN, Gawler High managed the project with in-kind 
support from Council. The program is on-going and has now entered its second term. 
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The Gawler Youth Workers Network Inc (GYWN) has just been through 
a re-development process. GYWN is an exciting committee that plays a vital role in the 
development and provision of youth services in Gawler.  The purpose of GYWN is to take the 
role of a localised peak body for individuals and organizations that work with and provide 
services to young people in Gawler and surrounding regions. 
 
The mission of GWYN is to support those who work with young people and to raise 
awareness of the needs of the youth sector that may affect youth workers, organisations and 
young people.  GYWN meets monthly at the Gawler Sport & Community Centre. GWYN is 
funded annually by Office for Youth with in-kind support from Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The extensions to the Gawler Sport & Community Centre have been an ongoing project for 
many years and are listed as an action in Council’s 2005/2010 Strategic Plan.  Extensive 
research has been undertaking to confirm support and viability. Early in 2006, Council was 
successful in obtaining a grant from the Department of Transport and Regional Services to 
help build a youth specific facility.  
 
The facility will help address identified service gaps to young people in Gawler by providing 
youth services and activities under the one roof. 
• A safe and secure venue for after hours youth events. 
• Programs that support the growth of young people both physically and mentally. 
• Counselling and information services for health and housing assistance. 
• A meeting venue for youth groups. 
• Cultural, social and recreational activities. 
• A hub for youth activity that will serve as a catalyst for other youth initiatives. 
• Office space for a variety of outreach youth services. 
• A contact point for advice and referral. 
 
Home Assist and Community Care Program. (HACC) 
 
The Gawler Home Assist & Community Care Program is a HACC and Town of Gawler 
funded project. The Town of Gawler and the Gawler Health Service collaboratively operate 
the social support services provided by the program. 
 
In the 2005/2006 year the program received the following funding from the  
Department of Families & Communities: 

• Recurrent HACC funding of $327,300 (Project No 1899)   
• One off HACC funding of $26,000 for upgrading of office equipment & 

furniture. (Project No. 1899A) 
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• One off HACC funding of $31,000 for Home Assist Plus – the Minister for Ageing 
approved one-off funding to Home Assist providers for the provision of additional 
Home Assist services in 2006. (Project No. HA012) 

  
The Gawler Home Assist & Community Care Program provided services a total of 617 
people in the 2005/2006 financial year. The se services included assessment, information, 
and coordination of services, reassessment and direct services. 
 
Graph 1: Displays the total number of people assisted per annum in the last 6 financial years. 
 
 
Graph 1 
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HACC Client Groups 
The HACC Clients Groups provided with services in the last 5 financial years, compared with 
that indicated in the HACC Funding and service Agreement (FASA) is displayed in graph 3. 
 

 

HACC Target Groups 
FASA versus % of total consumers per year
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Developments in 2005/2006 

• ‘Systems Improvement Through Consumer Consultation & Participation’ is a 
collaborative project across the Northern Region covering the Town of Gawler, City 
of Salisbury, City of Playford and City of Tea Tree Gully funded by the Home and 
Community Care program. The goal of the project is to improve the capacity for 
northern metropolitan community aged care services to meet consumer needs through 
community consultation. 

 
• Recurrent HACC Expansion Funding of $30,000 approved in February 2006 and 

received in April 2006. 
 

• In February 2006 the Minister for Ageing, Honourable Jay Weatherill MP, approved 
one-off funding to Home Assist providers for the provision of additional Home Assist 
services in 2006. Gawler Home Assist (Home Assist Plus) received $62,000 for the 
period 1/1/2006 to 31/12/2006. The funding may be used for security hardware (such 
as window locks, security screens, or subsidising the labour costs to install them), 
additional spring cleans, yard cleans and other home maintenance and modification 
services. These could include ramps, gutter cleaning, improving safety of garden 
paths, etc, or the funding may be used to reduce waiting lists for these types of 
services. Agencies need to ensure that no recurrent expectations are raised amongst 
their local residents. This funding was received in April 2006. 

 
• One-off HACC funding of $26,000 approved in February 2006 to upgrade office 

equipment and furniture. This enabled the upgrading of the communication system, 
including direct electronic connection and additional line for incoming and outgoing 
calls. 

 
• In April 2006 the program moved into a bigger office at the Gawler Elderly centre 

with upgraded furniture and equipment purchased with the one-off HACC funding. 
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• Commenced discussions with the HACC Project Officer regarding funding 

possibilities for a project to identify future social needs of Gawler’s older population.  
 

Priorities for 2006/07 
• HACC Appraisal Implementation Plan – address developmental requirements. 
• Continue discussions with HACC Project Officer regarding funding for a project to 

consult with community members and identify current and future needs of Gawler’s 
older population. 

• Increase community awareness of Home & Community Care services. 
 
Gawler Volunteer Program 
This area of Council has seen growth over the year due in part to the establishment the Gawler 
Volunteer Resource Centre. (GVRC) 
 
The following graph shows the steady increase in volunteer hours over the last four years. 
The volunteer hours are in the following year order from front to back. 
 
2002/3    2675 hours 
2003/4    6979 hours 
2004/5    8896 hours 
2005/6  10205 hours  

 
• Some of the many achievements in the Gawler volunteer sector over the 2006/07 period. 
• Development of the Gawler Volunteer Resource Centre. 
• Development of the Gawler Volunteer Advisory Committee.  
• Development of the Gawler Volunteer Charter. 
 
The Volunteer Resource Centre was established after extensive consultation with the Gawler 
community. Initial seed funding of $10,000 was provided by State Government and it was 
officially opened by the Premier of South Australia, the honorable Mike Rann in January 
2006. The fundamental purpose of the centre is to provide a range of services that support 
volunteers and promote volunteering Gawler. 
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Volunteer Programs  
 
Volunteer Services provide an essential level of support to Council for the benefit of the 
community. 
 
3 Graffiti Removal Programs 
4 Volunteer Resource Centre 
5 Home and Community Care Programs 
6 Youth Programs 
7 Elderly Centre (Care and Share) 
8 Visitor Information Centre 
9 Friends of the Clock Tower Maintenance Program 
10 Playground Beautification Program 
11 Immunisation Programs 
12 Public Library 
13 Swimming Pool, 
14 Photography  
15 Seasonal Program 
16 Sport and Community Centre 
17 Environmental Health 
18 Special Projects 
19 Gardening maintenance Program 
20 Computer lessons and computer advice for elderly (2 levels) 
 
The Town of Gawler Volunteer Program assists a wide variety of people in the community 
who seek Volunteer work. This covers all age groups including a proportion of people with a 
disability and those who are involved with a return to work program.  We accept a proportion 
of Centrelink clients and offer opportunities for unemployed people to gain the necessary 
skills that help them return to paid work. More mature aged people are encouraged; many of 
these volunteers provide mentoring skills to our younger volunteers. 
 
 
Gawler Sport & Community Centre 
 
This year has seen a number of positive changes with staffing and the utilisation of more 
community based organisations occupying down time at the centre. A new Supervisor was 
appointed in September 2005 to run the day to day operations of the Centre. 
 
Court sports 
Ladies social netball is conducted on Monday and Wednesday mornings. 
We have 8 teams over both days. These teams have supported the centre since council 
commenced management of the centre. 
Indoor cricket is a new program introduced this year on Tuesday evenings; the competition is 
a very social night out for approximately 40 players aged from 14 years to 40 years.    
Northern Stars Inline Hockey ceased activities at the centre and Roller Sports SA will start a 
new inline competition at the Sports Centre. This should commence in early October. 
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Skating 
Roller skating has become very popular on a Friday night and also on a Saturday morning. 
We are averaging 100 children on a Friday night with a number of families staying to all 
enjoy the latest top 40 music in a safe friendly environment. Skating birthday parties are new 
to the centre this year, which has helped increase numbers and have given parents somewhere 
to bring children for their birthday without having to worry about food preparation or the 
mess afterwards. We supply all food, drinks and a birthday cake. Saturday mornings learn to 
skate has also continued to be well supported with the help of our volunteer learn to skate 
instructor Anne. 
  
Out of School Hours Care 
From January 2006 the sports centre was approved to hold After School Care, the opening 
hours are 3.15pm – 6pm Monday to Friday during school term. Currently the schools using 
the program are Gawler Primary, Roseworthy and Evanston Gardens. We have 20 
government subsidised places available, enrolments have been slow to start with but have 
slowly increased during the year. 
Vacation care received an increase in government funded places from 40 – 50, vacation care 
is very popular with any average attendant of 36 children per day. Our program is very 
popular with parents because of our sports focus and open enclosed spaces available for the 
children to utilise. 
 
Fitness 
Fitness classes are conducted at the centre on Monday, Wednesday and Friday mornings, as 
well as Monday evenings. A free crèche is offered on Monday and Wednesday mornings.  
The same instructor has been doing these classes throughout the year and class numbers have 
slowly increased. Friday mornings has seen a change in instructors which has seen a decline 
in numbers, hopefully with time these numbers will increase.    
 
The Sports and Community Centre is utilised by various Groups and Individuals 
Gawler Centrals Sporting Groups 
Gawler Arts society 
Gawler Academy of Dance 
Next Generation Taekwondo 
Gawler Gymnastics Club 
Gawler Judo Club 
Alana’s Dance Studio 
Marion’s over 50`s fitness 
U3A (University of the third age) 
Gawler Primary School 
Gawler Show Society 
Gawler Rotary 
Gawler Rotary Light 
CAS (community access Service) 
Barossa Job Link 
Gawler and surrounding communities   
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Skating at Sport & Community Centre 

 
Trevor Bellchambers Community Swimming Centre 
 
The open-air swimming centre was opened in February 1962 amid the booming popularity of 
swimming at the time. Since then the centre has been a favourite recreation venue for all ages 
with its beautiful backdrop of magnificent river red-gums. It consists of a 50 metre Olympic 
length pool with springboard, a learner’s pool and a multi-coloured toddlers' pool complete 
with mushroom fountain. 
 
Complementing the pools are a well-stocked kiosk, change rooms with hot showers, giant 
shades over the pools and lawns, and a playground. The water is kept at a comfortable 27 C 
and conforms to the state health authority disinfection and safety standards. 
 
Open from October to March inclusive each year, the centre offers swimming lessons for 
children, parents & toddlers, and adults. Aquarobics, lap-swimming and swimming for fitness 
or relaxation are other activities enjoyed at the pool.  
 
Many local schools attend lessons and carnivals at the centre. The Gawler Amateur 
Swimming Club conducts training and competitions for the more serious swimmer. The 
annual Vacswim water safety program also attracts large numbers of children each January. 
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This year the centre catered for over 42,000 visitors including  

• 7,750 school swimming lessons, 
• 2,300 Swim School lessons, 
• 2,800 Vacswim participants, 
• 5,000 Swimming Club visits. 

 
Improvements to the centre include: a new diving board; new automatic pool cleaner, freshly 
painted change rooms and upgrading of the disabled change room.  
 

 
 

Taking a plunge at the Trevor Bellchambers Swimming Pool 
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Governance 
 
Delegated Authority (refer Appendices for full delegated authority provisions) 
All of Council Committees have delegated authority, to the extent allowed under the Local 
Government Act 1999, to make decisions on behalf of the Council. Where a committee lacks 
delegation, the matter is referred to Council for consideration. Council also delegates a 
number of Sections from different Government Acts to the Chief Executive Officer who in 
turn sub-delegates these Sections to staff in order to conduct the business of Council. 
 
Agendas and Minutes 
Agendas of all Council and Committees are placed on Public Display in the Civic Centre 
Public Notice Boards on the Friday of the week prior to the holding of these meetings. 
Minutes are displayed within three days of the meetings. Copies of Agendas and Minutes are 
available at the Council Customer Service foyer and the Library and are posted on the 
Council Internet Website www.gawler.sa.gov.au . 
 
Public Inclusion in Council Business 
Members of the public may put forward their views to Council on particular issues in a 
number of different ways, these include; Public forums, Representations/Deputations, 
Presentations to Council, Petitions, Written Requests, Community Consultation and 
Community Forums. For more information on these requests please contact the Mayor’s 
Office on 08 8522 9226. The Town of Gawler also has a Public Consultation Policy which 
can be accessed on our Web site www.gawler.sa.gov.au. 
 
Freedom of Information Town of Gawler Information Statement 2006 
 
An updated information Statement is placed on Councils website at least every 12 months and 
in Council’s Annual Report.  This Information Statement is reflective of Council’s 
administration as at 30 June, 2006.  There were no Freedom of Information requests made 
during the period 2005/2006. 
 
National Competition Policy 
 

• Council has determined it has no significant business activities as required by the 
legislation. 

• Where Council has submitted a tender as part of a tender process it has applied cost 
effective pricing to ensure it complies with competitive neutrality. 

• Council adopted a NCP Policy and Procedures to deal with complaints about the 
application of competitive neutrality.  No complaints were received during 2005/2006 
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Confidentiality Provisions – Local Government Act 1999 Reporting For 2006 
 
Section 91(9)(a) requires that Council report on an annual basis the use of confidentiality 
provisions, where a confidential period exceeds 12 months.  The reporting includes the 
following information, separately identified for both Council and Committees:- 

• Number of occasions each of the provisions of Section 90(3) were utilised 
• Number of occasions each of the provisions of Section 90(3) and Section 91(7) were 

utilised, expressed as a percentage of total agenda items considered 
• An indication of any particular issues that contributed to the use of confidentiality 

provisions on more than one occasion  
• Number of occasions that information originally declared confidential has 

subsequently been made publicly available 
• Number of occasions that information declared confidential has still not subsequently 

been made publicly available and the reason for this in each case. 
These abbreviations relate to the following Committees: 

Civ Centre Civic Centre Management committee 
Corp & Com Corporate & Community Services (previously Economic & 

Community) 
Corp Gov Corporate Governance (now Government & Strategy) 
DAP Development Assessment Panel 
Eld Cent Elderly Centre Management Board 
Glr Riv Jntn Gawler River Junction Committee 
Horse fest Gawler Horse Festival 
IES Infrastructure & Environmental Services Portfolio Committee 
Perf Panel Performance Management Panel 
Volunteer Adv Gawler Volunteer Advisory Committee 
Council Council 

 
Number of occasions of the provisions of section 90(3) were utilised. 
  

 
Total Items 

 
Identification of the subsections used in Section 90(3) 

  
a 

 
b(i) & 

(ii) 

 
C

 
d(i) & 

(ii) 

 
E

 
f 
 

 
g

 
h

 
i 

 
j(i) & 

(ii) 

 
k 

 
l 

 
m

 
n
 

Corp & Com 
123 

 1  4           

Govt Strat 22 1              

Horse fest 9    1           

IES  164 2 3 2 3   1 1     2  
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Perf Panel 5 3   1    1       

Council 196 4 9  3 2 1  6 1 2   1  

 
 

2 Number of occasions each of the provisions of section 90(3) and 91(7) were utilised, 
expressed as a percentage of total agenda items considered.  

 
 

% 
 

Meeting 
 

 
a 

 
b(i)  
&  
(ii) 

 
C 

 
d(i) 
& 
(ii) 

 
e 

 
f 
 

 
g 

 
h 

 
i 

 
j(i) 
& 
(ii) 

 
m 

5/123 
 

4.06% 
 

Corp 
& Com 

 .813  3.25        

1/22 
 

4.54% 

Govt 
Strat  

4.54           

1/9 
 

11.11% 

Horse 
fest  

   11.11        

14/164 
 

8.53% 

IES  1.21 1.82 1.21 1.82   .60 .60   1.21

5/5 
 

100% 

Perf 
Panel  

60   20    20    

25/1961 
 

2.75% 

Council 2.04 4.59  1.53 1.02 .51  3.06 .51 1.02 .51

 
 

Number of occasions that information originally declared confidential has subsequently 
been made publicly available. 
 
 

Corporate & Community (previously 
Economic & Community Services) 

1 

Infrastructure & Environmental 
Services 

3 

Council 5 
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Number of occasions that information declared confidential has still not subsequently 
been made publicly available and the reason for this in each case. 
 
 

Governance & Strategy (previously  
Corporate Governance) 
 

   1 

Corporate & Community Services 
(previously Economic & Community) 

4 

Performance Panel 5 
Gawler Horse Festival 1 
Infrastructure & Environmental Services 10 
Council 20 
 

 
EM Training 
 
5 May 2006 Chairing Skills for 

Mayors and Chairpersons 
Cr Brian Thom 

5 May 2006 Council and Committee 
Meeting Procedures  

Cr Brian Thom 

 
 
HR Training 
 
The Town of Gawler is committed to delivering the best service to its residents. To achieve 
this it conducts regular and specific training to both members and staff to ensure they have the 
knowledge and skills to provide the expected level of service in a safe and productive way. 
 
Type of Training (Conducted or Programmed) – Staff. 
Generic 
Cultural Awareness – Customer Service Officers 
Civica/Authority overview – Administration Staff  
Conflict Resolution / Difficult Customers – Customer service Staff 
Safety at work - OHS general – All Staff 
Risk assessment. – OH&S Officer & EMT 
Name & Address Register – Administration Staff 
Time Management & MS Outlook – All Staff as required 
Mandatory Reporting / child safe environments 
Ms Office – All staff as required 
Marketing – Economic Development Staff 
Financial Mgmt For Non Accountants 
Business Writing – Staff as required 
Business Planning - EMT 
Desktop publishing, MS Publisher – Staff as required 
Customer Service – Administration & IES Staff 
Position Descriptions - EMT 
Asset Management - our program, activities and timeline - Staff as required 
Performance Review - EMT 
Map Info & GIS packages – All Staff as required 
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Local Government Finance Workshops – Finance Officers 
Network Admin/Security – IT Officers 
New Library Software – Library Staff 
Pavement Const – IES Staff as required 
Social Planning - Staff as required 
Statistical Data Analysis - EMT 
Stormwater Mgmt – IES Staff as required 
Tax Gst/Fbt Updates – Finance Officers 
Voters Roll – Administration Staff 
Traffic Engineering – IES Staff as required 
Council Member Training – All Council Members 
 
Providers 
 
A number of providers are sought for all levels of training. This allows a mixture of both 
training methods and skills to be utilized. Training providers have included; 

• Local Government Association; 
• Invisage Training Services; 
• Internal Staff (i.e. Trained OH&S Officers); 
• Workright Australia; 
• Norman Waterhouse Lawyers; 
• Tafe SA; 
• St Johns Ambulance; 
• Civicia; 
• SAIRA; 
• Civil Construction Skills & Technology Centre; 
• Strategic Ecommerce SA; 
• Chubb Training; 
• Taxed; 
• Excelerate Learning & Development Aust; 
• Caval Training; 
• Network SA; 
• Lynay Community Centre Inc; 
• Planning Institute of Australia; 
• Public and Environmental Health; 
• Engineering Education Aust; and  
• Aust Institute of Environmental Health. 
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Council Supported Staff Study 
 
 
Level Staff Numbers 
TAFE 4 
University 3 
Post Graduate 1 
 
 
 
Economic Development 
 
The past year can be summed up as one where Council cemented the foundations for ongoing 
development of our business precincts and tourism functions.  
 
Programs employed over the past year will continue to evolve and place Gawler at the 
forefront of the place to live, work, invest and visit.  
 
Gawler Business Development Group 
As always this Group has continued to fulfil its role with Council being an active supporter. 
The role of the group is to facilitate the improvement and sustainability of Gawler’s retail, 
industrial, professional and commercial businesses, informing and representing all of its 
members.  
 
The management Board comprises representatives from Town Centre businesses, Willaston 
businesses, Gawler South/Adelaide Rd businesses and other precincts as well as a link to the 
Tourism and Promotions Committee.  
 
In-kind financial administration support through the collection of property levies and payment 
services ensures costs are kept to a minimum for the Group, in addition to regular consultation 
via Council staff ensuring that projects are delivered collaboratively.  
 
Many projects have co-operatively come to fruition in 2005, including review of planning 
procedures, Board member induction kits, appointment of a Business Liaison Officer, review 
of Marketing Agency, town infrastructure improvements, Christmas decorations, business 
directory upgrade and stronger alliance with Northern Adelaide Business Enterprise Centre 
for training and development opportunities.  
 
Continued fostering of the partnership between the Board and Council will see more exciting 
projects realised over the coming year.  
 
Business Directory 
The 2006 edition of the Gawler Community Information & Business Directory was published 
and for the first time included a comprehensive listing of local business. Provision of the 
information and reference maps was a joint initiative between Council and the Gawler 
Business Development Board. This same database was also for the first time published online 
at www.gawler.sa.gov.au . 
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Northern Adelaide Business Enterprise Centre (NABEC) 
A new service agreement was negotiated between NABEC and Town of Gawler which has 
seen an increased commitment to the delivery of business advice and services to the business 
houses of Gawler, both on site at client’s premises and through Council meeting offices. 
  
2005 saw over 490 contacts made with local business resulting in business advice and 
assistance being provided to 104 target enterprises in addition to over 30 participating in 
training workshops delivered in Gawler.     
 
This was the first year that monitoring of service delivery and specific key performance 
indicators was undertaken, setting the benchmark for future years. 
 
Town Centre Improvement 
Continued feedback from traders within the Town Centre necessitated the need for Council to 
undertaken a Crime Statistic Survey.   Results of the survey where shared with State 
Government representatives, SAPOL and the Gawler Business Development Board.  
 
Investigation and options to improve the growing perception of our Town Centre were then 
considered by Council and the Board with one major project, installation of surveillance 
cameras, recognised as a priority.   Further costing and development with key stakeholders is 
presently evolving which will see this project delivered over the course of 2006. 
 
Gawler Visitor Information Centre (GVIC) 
The Gawler Visitor Information Centre is a vital link for tourists and locals seeking 
information about Gawler, the surrounding district and South Australia.  
 
Internal reviews of the Centre were undertaken with the Centre now operating with a full time 
Co-ordinator and Events Officer ably assisted by approx 50 dedicated and professional 
volunteers.  
 
The Centre is a vibrant centre point which plays an important part in promoting Gawler as an 
accessible and family favourite visitor destination as well as providing the local community 
access to transport tickets, freight services and transport pick up station. The upstairs meeting 
room has also been extensively used by many organisations.  
 
Visitor numbers for year ended June 2006 were slightly down on previous years but compared 
well to a State decline of 14% and nationally a 6% decline in total visitors.  
Figures highlighted the downfall was predominantly influenced by overseas visitor numbers 
which can be attributed to the consumers confidence in other international countries.  Other 
factors which impacted on visitation were: 

• Favourable exchange rates and increased price competitiveness of overseas destinations; 
• Higher fuel prices discouraging drive/touring holidays. 
• The continued squeeze on the discretionary dollar 
• The culture of holiday accumulation and outbound tourism 
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Accreditation   
The South Australian Tourism Accreditation Board for Assessment on site visit to enable the 
Centre to retain its Level 1 Accredited VIC status was undertaken.  The Gawler Visitor 
Information Centre gained this Accreditation on the initial visit in comparison to other high 
profile visitor information centres necessitating follow ups.  
Maintaining a Level 1 accreditation standard allows the Centre to remain eligible for the 
South Australian Tourism Commission Visitor Information Centre Grant Scheme which 
historically provides financial contribution which may be used for volunteer training, minor 
capital works, business planning, and marketing of the GVIC or information technology.  It 
allows the Gawler Visitor Information Centre to be involved with state marketing campaigns 
and strategic planning of all Visitor Information Centres. The  sign gained by Accreditation 

Visitors to Gawler, 2005/2006  
Visitors enquires at the Gawler Visitor Information Centre  
 2005 2006  
 Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Total 
  No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. 
Australian 
Visitors 

                          

SA 535 422 599 963 872 779 773 474 646 579 830 633 8105 
VIC 127 79 167 163 101 156 151 90 116 125 102 110 1487 
NSW 49 72 137 171 77 175 173 78 106 138 110 64 1350 
WA 48 74 48 64 13 64 61 12 62 43 77 49 615 
NT 15 7 17 9 6 16 16 7 9 13 4 7 126 
ACT 8 0 10 14 2 7 7 1 11 12 11 6 89 
QLD 33 57 92 85 45 72 72 48 44 76 109 38 771 
TAS 17 12 18 12 106 2 2 4 2 6 25 21 227 
Total 832 723 1088 1481 1222 1271 1255 714 996 992 1268 928 12770
                            
Internat. 
Visitors 

                          

Other 58 32 14 31 33 52 44 28 10 46 27 21 396 
Asia 138 105 107 126 50 315 153 148 136 168 107 120 1673 
Europe 31 33 45 101 119 118 216 140 145 72 45 48 1113 
USA 21 15 7 36 58 18 23 34 25 23 20 5 285 
Canada 3 10 2 16 12 14 42 20 29 15 22 6 191 
UK 26 16 23 28 53 60 79 71 60 35 38 12 501 
NZ 10 8 43 48 31 26 23 85 33 34 34 27 402 
Total 287 219 241 386 356 603 580 526 438 393 293 239 4561 
                            
General 1572 1770 2298 2218 1836 1855 1948 2029 1887 1970 1768 1506 22657
Visitor*                           
Total  2691 2712 3627 4085 3414 3729 3783 3269 3321 3355 3329 2673 39988
              
* GVIC includes those who do not make an enquiry, also freight collection/sending, purchase bus/train 
tickets etc 
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is very powerful in directing consumers and visitors to the Gawler Visitor Information Centre 
and is known both nationally and internationally. 
 
Gawler Tourism Strategic Plan  
After much anticipation the Gawler Tourism Strategic Plan 2006-2009 was launched and 
today plays a vital part in the direction of the Gawler Visitor Information Centre and the ways 
in which council fosters our tourism industry.  
 
Achieving the goals as set out in the plan is now the focus for Council and volunteers. The 
most exciting of recent deliveries being the release of the Town Tourism Brochure and 
upgrade of visitation map. 
 
Representation on regional bodies, particularly Barossa Wine & Tourism, has strengthened, 
with Council having representation on the Marketing Committee to assist the collaborative 
marketing of the Barossa Tourism Region.  
 
Steinborner Holden Gawler Horse Festival 
Delivery of the 2005 event was a mammoth task culminating in the delivery of a fantastic 
event, something which Council prides itself on. 
 
Having an estimated economic impact of $600,000 for the local community, this festival has 
gone onto to be recognised both regionally and at a state level, winning the Regional SA 
Great Sport & Recreation Award and being a finalist in the Office of Sport and Recreation, 
Ministers Award.   
 
Planning for the 2007 event is already well under way with the appointment of an Event 
Manager and the development of an equine program easily as spectacular as 2005 as well as 
the development of non equine attractions.  

 

 
Gawler Horse Festival 

Environmental Health 
 
Important Achievements 2005/2006 

• Short listed as a top 6 metropolitan Council by the Department of Health and awarded 
a Certificate of Excellence in recognition in the field of public & environmental health 

• Development and implementation of a work plan linked to the Council strategic plan 
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Snapshot Environmental Health
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• Commencement of project focusing on properties with failing waste control systems 
(septic tanks) 

• First round of hairdressing and beauty/tattoo premises inspections completed 
• 10% overall increase in inspections from previous year 

 
What the Environmental Health Section Provides 

• Food premises inspections ~ ensure that food premises and food handlers are 
complying with the applicable legislation and codes of practice and are maintaining 
proper standards 

• Maintain the Department of Human Services Register of Food premises notifications ~ 
ensure all food premises have notified and keep the register up to date 

• Public & Environmental Health ~ monitor public health standards to ensure that 
premises and operators are complying with the applicable legislation and codes of 
practice, such as public swimming pools, hairdressers, skin penetration & tattooists 

• Respond to customer complaints regarding insanitary premises, vermin, vectors, 
stormwater matters or any other public and environmental concern 

• Respond to any infectious and notifiable disease incident within the area and 
investigate, educate and notify the Department of Health of any outcomes 

• License and monitor license conditions of Supported Residential Facilities within the 
area 

• Approve and inspect installation of waste water control systems (septic tanks) within 
area 

• Provide educational support and updates to the proprietors and staff of all food 
premises, health premises or other interested parties 

• Strive for more awareness and informed community, promote health through 
information, education, public meetings, media and Website 
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Town of Gawler Building Fire Safety Committee Report 
 

The Building Fire Safety Committee was established in accordance with the requirements of  
Section 71 of the Development Act. The purpose of the Building Fire Safety Committee is to 
maintain proper levels of fire safety in all buildings in the Council area. The Committee 
consists of three members, the Consultant Building Surveyor and the Assistant Building 
Surveyor for the Council, and a person nominated by the Chief Officer of the Metropolitan Fire 
Service.  In the last financial year the Committee met 3 times and inspected 16 buildings (some 
containing multiple occupancies). 
 
The table below gives a summary of the types and numbers of buildings inspected and a 
status of those inspected. 
 
Type of Building Classification Number inspected Status 
Supported 
Residential Facilities 

3 2 One completed 
One still to finalise 

Hotels 6 3 2 completed 
One to finalise 

Retail /Warehouses 6 12 2 completed & 6 being upgraded 
Notice served on group of four 

Motel 6 1 completed 
Clubrooms 6 1 Initial inspection Undertaken, 

Work to be done 
Sport & 
Community Centre 

9b 1 Upgrades in some areas required 

Caravan Parks nil 1 Upgrade work in progress 
 

All but four premises are the subject of ongoing inspections and upgrading. 
As some premises are completed, others are added to the list. 
 
The Committee has adopted a risk management approach to fire safety, inspecting those buildings 
that will have the highest impact on life safety. 
 
Development Act – Building Rules Consent 

 
Number of Applications Building Type Classification 
208 Dwellings 1a 
14 Dwelling additions 1a 
8 Offices 5 
4 Classrooms 9b 
2 Workshops 8 
1 Shop 6 
1 Hotel extension 6 
381 Verandahs sheds pools and t 10 
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Inspectorial Services 
 
Parking  

• Parking on street and off street zones, restricted areas, school parking observation with 
educational cautions 

• Installation and revoking of traffic controls  
 
Animal Management  

• Barking dog complaints, 
• Dog attacks/harassments 
• Impounding of dogs  
• Stock wandering on roads 
• Cats feral and domestic 
• Pigeon and Corella Control 
• Local Government Act 1999 
• Registration of Dog Register 

 
Administering Councils By-Laws  

• By-Law 1 – Permits & Penalties, 
• By-Law 2 – Moveable Signs, 
• By-Law 3 – Roads, 
• By-Law 4 – Local Government Land, 
• By-Law 5 – Dogs, 

 
Inflammable Undergrowth (Fire Prevention) 

• The general inspector is responsible for Inflammable issues such as high Inflammable 
grass which may be hazardous to the community. An education process is being put in 
place to encourage landowners to understand the high risks of fire hazards by not 
reducing flammable undergrowth, which may lead to an outbreak, or the spread of fire 
throughout the land. There are no permits issued in the fire danger season. Permits are 
required to burn outside the fire danger season in rural areas only. No fires are 
permitted on a total fire ban day. 

 
DDoogg  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  

• The general inspectorate area enforces the Dog and Cat Management Act 1995. 
Renewal notices are sent to dog owners to remind them that their dog registrations are 
now due. The Inspectorial department also conducts a dog door knock registration 
survey when the need arises. Enforcement concerning dogs wandering, noisy dogs and 
dog attacks/harassments is undertaken once brought to the attention of the General 
Inspectorial department.  Infringement notices and cautions are given as well as 
mediation between neighbours takes place as part of an education program with the 
community. 

 
Abandoned Shopping Trolleys 

• Councils Inspector contacts the major retail stores if they see any shopping trolleys 
that are left abandoned on roads and advises them to remove the trolleys within 24 
hours, or they will be collected by council. 
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Backyard Fires Complaints 
• Councils Inspector attends residential backyard burning complaints and advises the 

occupier that it is illegal to burn in a residential area unless the fire is contained in a 
proper receptacle and used solely for cooking or heating purposes using clean dry 
wood, or charcoal. No fires are permitted on total fire ban days. Gas barbecues are 
permitted.  

 
Rubbish Dumped On Council Land 
Councils Inspector checks rubbish complaints and gathers identification to expiate offenders. 
Parking Infringements issued 1,089
Dog Expiations notices issued 269
Unsightly Premises Notices issued 2
Fire Prevention Notices Sent  262
Dog Attacks/Harassments Actioned 47
Backyard Burning Complaints/Warnings Actioned 14
Feral Cat Complaints and Removal 72
Domestic Cat Complaints Actioned 96
Rubbish Dumped illegally on Council Land Investigated 75
Ongoing Pigeon Control Program -
Abandoned Vehicles Removed from Roads 18
Barking Dog Complaints Actioned 96
Number of registered dogs 2006/2007 4057
Stock Wandering on Roads Actioned 21
Moveable Signage Actioned 34

 
Data Related to EEO Program 
 
There is a zero tolerance of any discriminatory behavior, harassment or bullying in the Town 
of Gawler Council in the workplace, Council meetings or any Council environment. All 
Elected Members, staff and residents have a right to work in or visit an environment which is 
free from harassment and Council is committed to providing such an environment.   
 
The Council recognises the legal obligations of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 and actively 
promotes equal employment opportunity based solely on merit to ensure that discrimination 
does not occur on the grounds of age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, race, and disability, 
religious or political convictions. 
 
The equal opportunity goals of this Council are designed to provide an enjoyable, challenging, 
involving, harmonious environment for all members, staff and residents.  
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Community Land Management plans 
 
Community Land Management Plans are held for all properties entrusted to the Council. The 
management plans detail the purpose of the land, reasons for use/ownership, objectives or 
future use of the land, and any policies on the use of the land. These may be viewed at the 
Civic Centre Customer Service area.  
 
Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare 
 
Council continues to place a high level of importance to the safety of its staff and to manage 
the demanding program set by the Local Government Workers Compensation Scheme 
(LGAWCS) and the Occupational Health Safety and Welfare Act. Council has an OHS 
Committee with members from management and staff taking an active role in the promotion 
and management of safety at work. The committee meets regularly in support of the OHS 
Program and reviewed its OHS Procedures during the year. 
 
Reporting from the (LGAWCS), shows that Council has an excellent record in respect to the 
management of OHS&W and Injury management. Data indicated an improvement in the 
number of injuries that resulted in a full day or more off work and in the number of days lost. 
 
The Workers Compensation loss ration of 32% combined with a high score (94%) in the 
recent OHS Audit by the LGAWCS Regional Officer resulted in a 40% rebate on Workers 
Compensation the Levy. 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk Management 
 
The Risk Management Program came under audit of the LGA Mutual Liability Schemes 
LGAMLS) Regional Officer.  The audit covered emergency management, committees of 
Council, safe environments for vulnerable groups, contract management, land management, 
asset management, land use and permit system, leases and rod management. A resultant score 
in the vicinity of 94% is indicative of council’s commitment to meeting the required outcomes 
set by the LGAMLS and the Local Government Act. 
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Developmental Services 
 
Development Applications 
 
A total of 869 applications were lodged which included 67 land divisions.   These included 
approval of 213 dwellings (which is around 30% higher than the 10 year average for Gawler). 
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Heritage Development Policies 
 
The Council has a multi-faceted heritage programme, including: 
 
• grants for property owners to assist with maintenance; 
• free architectural advisory service; 
• publications on Council programmes; 
• Management Plan for the Church Hill State Heritage Area; 
• development policies to protect heritage buildings and areas. 
 
Around 750 buildings are identified for protection from demolition.   In addition, there are 
heritage policies for substantial areas of urban Gawler. The grants scheme of $21,500 
involved 9 applications for a total development value of $91,536. 
 
Development Assessment Panel 
 
The Council’s Panel of 8 members is a mix of Elected Members/officers (5) and independent 
appointees from the community (3).   The Panel meets monthly. 
 
Strategic Projects and Rezoning (Plan Amendment Reports or PAR) 
 
During the year the following projects were finalised or advanced: 
 
• Business Zone PAR (approved February 2005) 
• Review of residential policy (PAR submitted for approval by Minister early 2006) 
• Southern Urban Areas Infrastructure Master Plan (Draft June 2006) 
• Adjustment of the Southern Urban Boundary to reinforce the Rural Green Belt 

(Minister’s PAR November 2005) 
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• Projects initiated include: 
- Gawler Rivers Strategic Framework 
- Section 30 Review 
- Willaston Centre Review 
- Strategic Review of the function of Gawler’s Railway Stations 

 
Recognition of Good Design 
 
For the fifth consecutive year, the Council has recognised good building and landscape design 
through an Awards Scheme. 
 
Development Appeals 
 
Applicants, and in limited circumstances neighbours, have a right of appeal to the 
Environment, Resources and Development Court where they disagree with Council’s decision 
on development applications. 
 
There were eight (8) appeals lodged with the Court over the last twelve months.   Two 
proceeded to a full hearing and the Council’s decisions were upheld.   One matter is yet to be 
heard by the Court (scheduled for September 2006).   The other five matters were settled by 
conciliation. 
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Section Four: Finance & Administration 
 

• Annual audited Financial Statements/notes 
• Forward Financial model – comments 
• Key Financial indicator graphs 
• 2006/2007 Budget 
• Purchasing and Tendering 
• Public access to documents 
• Members’ Code of Conduct – Breaches 
• Senior Executives remuneration 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Corner of Lyndoch Road and Murray Street, Gawler, c. 1907. 
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Annual Audited Financial 
Statements/notes
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Forward Financial Model 
 
Council has drafted a Forward Financial Model setting out the strategies to be employed to 
support the achievement of Strategic Plan objectives within a sustainable financial framework.     
 
Rate income is generated by the broad application of fundamental principles of taxation 
(equity, simplicity, ability to pay and efficiency) with a view to achieving an equitable rate 
burden amongst ratepayers, to cover general cost movements, including labour and non-
labour costs, service a regional population, and sufficient to cover any recurrent new 
initiatives.  
 
Loan Borrowing is used to fund capital projects of a magnitude that could not otherwise be 
funded from ongoing income sources.   Borrowing will also be considered to fund the 
acquisition of required operational assets where this is the most economical funding method.    
Council borrowings will be set at a financially sustainable level, and within agreed limits.   
The Council has agreed to limit debt per capita to between $450 and $550. 
 
Depreciation is to be fully funded with appropriate financial management tools and measured 
by an aggregate surplus in the operating statements over the term of the long term financial 
model.   Funding of depreciation reserves is applied within the long term model to commence 
in 2005/06 and increase to 100% over ten years.   This reserve will be used to fund the 
renewal of existing assets.    
 
Services provided by Council will be reviewed in light of community expectations and 
shifting demand for services.   Priorities will include safety, security, legislative compliance, 
developer contributions/development planning and asset management. 
 
Council will dedicate sufficient resources to maintaining the existing asset base in the long 
term, with remaining funds being allocated to acquiring new assets.    We are committed to 
improving Council’s operations through:  

• increasing the transparency and accountability of activities  
• measuring and reporting on the achievement of our Strategic Objectives  
• measuring the outcomes and impacts of our strategies and actions  

 
The financial model demonstrates: 

• continuing operating surplus 
• stable/slowly reducing debt, but with tight controls on new borrowings 
• improving debt servicing ratios 
• an improving cash position. 

 
The average rate for a Gawler householder will rise by 3.8% for 2006/07.   The Town of 
Gawler adopted its 2006/2007 annual budget at the Council meeting held on 25 July 2006.    
The key aspects are: 

• Residential & Commercial rate in the dollar 0.438192 (last year 0.417166), increase of 
5.1%. 

• Average residential rate $947 (last year $912), increase of 3.8%, $35 per annum or 67 
cents per week (includes waste collection and recycling – no separate fees). 

• Minimum residential rate unchanged at $600. 
• Total rates to be collected $8.947M (last year $8.369), increase of 6.9%. 
• Operating Expenditure $14.73M 
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• Capital Expenditure $3.85M 
• Forecast deficit $84,000. 
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TEN-YEAR FORWARD YEAR FINANCIAL FORECAST – YEARS ONE TO FIVE. 
 
 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 
 current yr1 yr2 yr3 yr4 yr5 
INCOME - Local       
General Rate 8,486,050  9,214,000 9,812,910 10,450,749  11,130,048 11,853,501 
Reimbursements 412,000  438,780 467,301 497,675  530,024 564,476 
Investment & 
Commercial 357,000  380,205 404,918 431,238  459,268 489,121 
Sports Centre 118,790  124,730 130,966 137,514  144,390 151,609 
Swimming Pool 148,000  155,400 163,170 171,329  179,895 188,890 
Fees & Charges 733,680  763,027 793,548 825,290  850,049 875,550 
Other 828,200  350,000 364,000 378,560  389,917 401,614 
Total Local Inc. 11,083,720  11,254,429 12,136,813 12,892,355  13,683,591 14,524,761 
Government & 
External       
GC Untied Grant 845,000  840,360 882,378 926,497  972,822 1,021,463 
GC Local Roads 
Funding 199,950  210,000 220,500 231,525  243,101 255,256 
Roads to Recovery 0  547,000 179,000 179,000  179,000 150,000 
Other 0  1,441,607 500,000 520,000  535,600 551,668 
Total Govt. 
Income 1,044,950  3,038,967 1,781,878 1,857,022  1,930,523 1,978,387 
Total Income 12,128,670  14,293,396 13,918,691 14,749,377  15,614,114 16,503,149 
EXPENDITURE       
Corporate, Finance 
& Admin. 1,213,815  1,262,368 1,312,862 1,390,377  1,645,992 1,746,832 
IT Services 346,563  360,426 374,843 389,836  405,430 421,647 
Building/Compl. 
Services 203,569  211,712 220,180 226,786  258,589 266,347 
Comm. Welfare &  
Cult. Services 983,050  1,022,372 1,063,267 1,180,798  1,251,221 1,323,758 
Library Services 532,327  566,928 603,779 643,024  684,821 729,334 
Commerce, Eco & 
Tourism  494,561  514,343 534,917 556,314  573,003 625,193 
Planning 496,221  517,320 538,013 559,533  576,319 628,609 
Parks & Gardens,  
Rec. Services 857,100  877,670 898,734 920,304  942,391 965,009 
Recreational  
services 589,500  603,648 618,136 632,971  648,162 663,718 
Infrastructure & 
Operations 4,195,830  4,342,663 4,551,370 4,733,425  4,875,427 5,021,690 
Interest costs 582,600  567,277 627,946 654,020  688,925 718,480 
Transfers to 
Reserves 0  300,000 450,000 600,000  750,000 800,000 
Total 
Expenditure 10,495,136  11,146,727 11,794,046 12,487,387  13,300,281 13,910,617 
I - E Sub Total 1,633,534  3,146,669 2,124,645 2,261,990  2,313,833 2,592,532 
Depreciation   1,700,000    1,485,000   1,600,000   1,700,000    1,800,000   1,800,000 
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Book Value of  
Assets Sold  0 0 0  0 0 
Recurrent Result 66,466  -1,661,669 -524,645 -561,990  -513,833 -792,532 
ADD BACK       

Loans Raised -450,000  -1,787,754 -1,500,000 -1,500,000  -1,500,000 
-

1,500,000 

Non Cash Items -1,700,000  -1,485,000 -1,600,000 -1,700,000  -1,800,000 
-

1,800,000 
Transfers from 
Reserves -300,000  -910,000 -600,000 -600,000  -400,000 -500,000 
FUNDS FOR 
CAPITAL EXP -2,083,534  -4,934,423 -3,624,645 -3,761,990  -3,788,833 

-
3,592,532 

CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURE 769,459  3,790,800 2,500,000 2,500,000  2,500,000 2,400,000 
LOAN 
PRINCIPAL 
REPAYMENT 1,337,855  1,228,000 1,239,435 1,419,351  1,114,933 1,151,457 
EOFY RESULT  
(-ve = surplus) 23,780  84,377 114,790 157,361  -173,900 -41,075 
CASH BAL AT 
YEAR END 1,108,610  1,024,233 909,443 752,082  925,982 967,057 
TOTAL DEBT 
(LOANS) 7,941,145  8,500,899 8,761,464 8,842,113  9,227,180 9,575,723 
NET INC/DEC 
IN DEP. ASSETS -930,541  2,305,800 900,000 800,000  700,000 600,000 
RESERVES 
BALANCE 2,203,344  1,593,344 1,443,344 1,443,344  1,793,344 2,093,344 
DEBT RATIO/ 
Ttl. REVENUE 16% 13% 13% 14% 11% 7% 
DEBT 
SERVICE/ 
Ttl. REVENUE 5% 4% 5% 4% 4% 4% 
POPULATION       19,778         20,173        20,577        20,988         21,408      21,836 
DEBT PER 
CAPITA $         402  $          421 $          426 $          421  $          431 $        439 
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TEN-YEAR FORWARD YEAR FINANCIAL FORECAST – YEARS SIX TO TEN. 
 
 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
 yr6 yr7 yr8 yr9 yr10 
INCOME - Local      
General Rate 12,623,979 13,444,537 14,318,432 15,249,130  16,240,324 
Reimbursements 601,167 640,242 681,858 726,179  773,381 
Investment & Commercial 520,914 554,773 590,833 629,238  670,138 
Sports Centre 159,190 167,149 175,507 184,282  193,496 
Swimming Pool 198,334 208,251 218,663 229,597  241,076 
Fees & Charges 901,817 928,871 956,738 985,440  1,015,003 
Other 413,663 426,073 438,855 452,020  465,581 
Total Local Income 15,419,063 16,369,897 17,380,886 18,455,886  19,598,999 
Government & External      
GC Untied Grant 1,072,536 1,126,163 1,182,471 1,241,594  1,303,674 
GC Local Roads Funding 268,019 281,420 295,491 310,266  325,779 
Roads to Recovery 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000  150,000 
Other 568,218 585,265 602,823 620,907  639,534 
Total Government 
Income 2,058,773 2,142,847 2,230,785 2,322,767  2,418,988 
Total Income 17,477,836 18,512,745 19,611,671 20,778,653  22,017,987 
EXPENDITURE      
Corporate, Finance & 
Admin. 1,851,705 1,960,773 2,074,204 2,192,172  2,314,859 
IT Services 438,513 456,053 474,295 493,267  512,998 
Building/Compliance 
Services 274,337 282,567 291,044 299,776  299,776 
Comm. Welfare & Cult. 
Services 1,398,471 1,475,425 1,554,688 1,636,328  1,720,418 
Library Services 776,741 827,229 880,999 938,264  999,251 
Commerce, Economic & 
Tourism  678,949 734,318 791,347 850,088  910,590 
Planning 682,467 737,941 795,079 853,932  914,550 
Parks & Gardens, Rec. 
Services 988,169 1,011,885 1,036,170 1,061,038  1,086,503 
Recreational services 679,647 695,959 712,662 729,766  747,280 
Infrastructure & Operations 5,172,341 5,327,511 5,487,336 5,651,956  5,821,515 
Interest costs 674,883 690,487 593,119 488333 379921
Transfers to Reserves 800,000 800,000 800,000 800,000  800,000 
Total Expenditure 14,416,223 15,000,148 15,490,944 15,994,920  16,507,661 
I - E Sub Total 3,061,613 3,512,596 4,120,727 4,783,733  5,510,325 
Depreciation 1,900,000 2,000,000 2,100,000 2,200,000  2,300,000 
Book Value of Assets Sold      
Recurrent Result -1,161,613 -1,512,596 -2,020,727 -2,583,733  -3,210,325 
ADD BACK      
Loans Raised -1,600,000 -1,500,000 -1,400,000 -1,300,000  -1,000,000 
Non Cash Items -1,900,000 -2,000,000 -2,100,000 -2,200,000  -2,300,000 
Transfers from Reserves -500,000 -500,000 -500,000 -500,000  -500,000 
FUNDS FOR CAPITAL -4,661,613 -5,012,596 -5,520,727 -6,083,733  -6,510,325 
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EXP 
CAPITAL 
EXPENDITURE 3,500,000 3,500,000 4,000,000 4,500,000  4,500,000 
LOAN PRINCIPAL 
REPAYMENT 1,201,422 1,400,383 1,509,277 1547233 1670636
EOFY RESULT (-ve = 
surplus) 39,809 -112,213 -11,450 -36,500  -339,689 
CASH BAL AT YEAR 
END 927,248 1,039,462 1,050,912 1,087,412  1,427,101 
TOTAL DEBT (LOANS) 9,974,301 10,073,918 9,964,641 9,717,408  9,046,772 
NET INC/DEC IN DEP. 
ASSETS 1,600,000 1,500,000 1,900,000 2,300,000  2,200,000 
RESERVES BALANCE 2,393,344 2,693,344 2,993,344 3,293,344  3,593,344 
DEBT 
RATIO/Ttl.REVENUE 7% 8% 8% 7% 8% 
DEBT 
SERVICE/Ttl.REVENUE 4% 4% 3% 2% 2% 
POPULATION        22,273        22,718        23,173        23,636         24,109 
DEBT PER CAPITA  $         448  $         443  $         430  $         411   $         375 
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2006/2007 
Budget



109 



110 



111 



112 



113 



114 



115 



116 



117 



118 



119 



120 



121 

 



122 



123 

Purchasing and Tendering 
 

4.1 COMPETITIVE TENDERING, CONTRACTING, PURCHASING, SALE & 
DISPOSAL OF LAND & OTHER ASSETS  
 
ADOPTED BY COUNCIL: 25/07/2000 
REVIEWED BY COUNCIL: 30/5/06 
 
1.  Purpose 
The Town of Gawler (Council) is committed to ensuring a fair, transparent and 
accountable process, in the provision of services, purchasing of goods and services and 
in the disposal of land and other assets. 
 
Council aims to ensure that its methods of: 
1. service provision,  including the carrying out of works,  
2. purchasing goods and 
3. the sale and disposal of land and or other assets 

 
are cost effective and meet the needs of the community and represent best value for 
money. 
 
This Policy addresses the key elements of the conduct of Council affairs in these areas 
and the principles that will guide its decision making processes. 
 
2.  Application 
This policy has been developed and adopted in accordance with Section 49 of the Local 
Government Act 1999 (“the Act”).   
 
It will apply to the provision of all services, the purchase of goods and services and the 
disposal of land and other assets. 
 
3.  Principles for 
1) Service Provision 
 In fulfilling Council's service provision role, the following principles will apply:  

 
 • Consistency with and relevance to Council’s future Strategic Management 

Plans. 
 • Determination of service delivery approaches on the basis of best short and 

long term value (i.e. quality and cost standards will be met, the service will 
be responsive to the needs of the community and will be accessible to those 
for whom it is intended). 

 • Adoption of efficiency, effectiveness, accountability and transparency 
measures.  

 • Consideration of the impact of service delivery approaches on local 
businesses. 

 • The desire to retain an appropriate level of Staffing. 
 • Adoption of principles of human resource management and compliance 

with industrial Awards and relevant Enterprise Agreements has regard to 
Council’s Staff relations objectives. 
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 • The appropriateness and necessity for Council to retain control over the 
way in which services are provided and its response to emergency 
situations. 

 • Compliance with statutory obligations and the National Competition 
Policy. 

 • Opportunities for creating or maintaining economic development and 
growth in the area and participation with other spheres of government, 
community groups and the private sector in service delivery. 
 

 Council has identified the following options for the provision of services: 
 • Competitive tendering - exposing the provision of Council services to 

competition through a formal tendering process irrespective of whether the 
service has been traditionally provided by Council Staff or an external 
provider.  The tendering process may involve "in house" Staff tendering 
with external providers for specific projects, services and activities.  
 

 • Contracting out or outsourcing - to an external provider. 
 • Contestability - involving Staff in identifying and adopting productivity 

improvements in service delivery designed to meet service standards 
determined through performance measurement, benchmarking and market 
testing. 

 • Subsidiaries - where Council establishes an incorporated body for the 
delivery of services or it co-operates with other Councils to establish such a 
body.  The Local Government Act provides for single Council Subsidiaries 
or Regional (more than one Council) Subsidiaries.  

 • Collaborative ventures - where Council joins with another organisation, 
Local Government authority, State Government authority or private sector 
company to jointly deliver a service. 

 • Commercial activities – projects which may involve the establishment of 
joint ventures, trusts, or partnerships. 
 

 In identifying the circumstances in which to apply the above options Council 
will consider: 

 • Council’s future Strategic Management Plans goals and objectives. 
 • Council’s Enterprise Agreements. 
 • Maintenance of control of specific services by Council. 
 • The risks to Council in adopting the various options. 
 • The number of competitors in the market place. 
 • The Council’s current service delivery arrangements. 
 • Council’s existing resources. 
 • Council’s desire to enter into commercial activities or projects. 

 
2) Purchase of Goods and Services 

 
 In fulfilling Council's purchasing role, the following principles will apply: 
 • Consistency with and relevance to Council’s Strategic Plan. 
 • Transparency and accountability in purchasing procedures and practices to 

ensure that Council purchases at the best price and that all potential 
suppliers are given equal opportunity to provide the required goods and 
services. 
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 • Opportunities to enhance local economic development and growth. 
 • Compliance with statutory and other obligations. 
 • Commercial confidentiality. 

 
 Council will generally purchase goods and services through adoption of the 

following approaches: 
 • Direct purchase - where there is only a single supplier or the particular 

circumstances involvement of only one potential supplier. 
 • Quotation – seeking quotations from two or more suppliers. 
 • Selected Tender - seeking tenders from a limited number of suppliers on 

the basis of, for example, location, previous performance, the result of an 
‘Expression of Interest’ process. 

 • Open Tender – seeking tenders from the market at large through an open 
invitation process involving advertisement in appropriate newspaper(s). 
 

 In identifying the circumstances in which to apply these options, Council will 
consider: 

 • The number of known suppliers of the goods or services. 
 • The existence of local suppliers of the goods or services and the impact on 

the local economy if the goods or services were purchased from outside the 
council area. 

 • The total estimated value of the purchase. 
 • Organisational capacity and attitude to elected Council/staff roles and 

responsibilities in purchasing. 
 • Delegation limits taking into consideration accountability, responsibility, 

operational efficiency and urgency of supply. 
 • Previous experience with suppliers. 
 • Compliance with statutory obligations. 

 
3) Methods of Purchasing 
 Purchases can be made in several ways, depending on the type of goods or 

services, the cost, and the source.  
 A summary of the purchasing requirements is shown in the table below. 

 
Method of Purchasing/Gross Value of 
Goods and Services ($) 

Procedure 
 

(1)  Estimate Gross Value of Goods an 
Services is less than $1,000 

Verbal quotations required (minimum of 
two quotations). 

(2) Estimated Gross Value of Goods and 
Services is greater than or equal to $1,000 
but less than $4,999. 

At least two verbal or written quotations 
required (and a record of the quotations is 
to be kept). 

(3) Estimated Gross Value of Goods and 
Services is greater than or equal to $5,000 
but less than $49,999. 

At least three written quotations required.   
Specification usually required.   A record 
of quotations and the documented 
purchasing decision is to be prepared and 
kept in the official records system. 

(4) Goods and Services not included in (1), 
(2) and (3) above, and: 
 

Public Tender Process. 
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• Construction of road, drainage, 
footpath and building projects. 

• The purchase of plant, machinery 
and vehicles. 

• The annual supply of Goods and 
Services. 

• Such items as may arise from time 
to time by resolution of the 
Council. 

• Any other Goods and Services 
where the Gross Value exceeds 
$50,000. 

 
Note: The Gross Value refers to the total purchase and not a per item cost. 
 
4) Exemptions 
 There are three (3) exemptions to the above requirements for purchasing goods 

and services, these being: 
 

 Sole Source justification 
 A SOLE SOURCE item is an item where the specification of that item limits its 

purchase to only one known source of supply. 
 

 Emergency Purchases 
 An EMERGENCY PURCHASE is classified as a purchase which is needed to 

“protect life and property, prevent substantial economic loss, and/or prevent the 
interruption of essential services”.   At the discretion of the Chief Executive 
Officer legitimate emergency requirements may be excluded. 
 

 Joint Purchasing Arrangements 
 Where the Council has access to either State or Federal Government contracts or 

access to joint purchasing arrangements with other Local Government bodies, the 
requirements may be excluded.   It should be noted that a regular review, 
preferably annually, should be undertaken to review the competitiveness of these 
types of arrangements. 
 

5) Sale and Disposal of land and Other Assets 
 For the sale and disposal of land and other assets, the following principles will 

apply: 
 • Consistency with and relevance to Council’s future Strategic Management 

Plans. 
 • Transparency and accountability in sale and disposal procedures and 

practices to ensure that Council obtains the best price and that all potential 
purchasers are given equal opportunity to purchase the land or assets. 

 • Opportunities to enhance local economic development and growth. 
 • Compliance with statutory and other obligations. 
 • Commercial confidentiality. 

 



127 

 
 Council will generally sell or dispose of land and other assets through adoption 

of the following practices:  
 • Direct sale - advertisement for sale and the nature of the advertisement i.e. 

public notice, local paper etc. 
 • Quotation - seeking quotations for the sale of land and other assets. 
 • Selected Tender - seeking tenders from a selected group of 

persons/companies etc. 
Open Tender - openly seeking, through advertisement in appropriate 
newspaper(s), tenders, or buyers for Council, land and other assets. 
 

 In identifying the circumstances in which to apply these options, Council will 
consider: 

 • The number of known potential purchasers of the land or assets. 
 • The original intention for the use of the land or asset when purchased, 

where relevant. 
 • The current and possible preferred future use of the land or assets. 
 • The existence of local purchasers of the land or asset. 
 • The opportunity to promote local economic growth and development. 
 • The total estimated value of the sale. 
 • Delegation limits taking into consideration accountability, responsibility, 

operational efficiency and urgency of the sale. 
 • Compliance with statutory and other obligations. 
4.  Consultation 
 • Council recognises its responsibilities under Section 50 of the Local 

Government Act 1999 and its Public Consultation Policy. 
 • Council also recognises its Enterprise Agreement, Industrial Awards and 

other Staff relations obligations and, consistent with the requirements of 
these documents, the Chief Executive Officer will consult with Staff on 
decisions that will significantly impact on their employment with Council. 
 

5.  Decision Making 
Council recognises that the community, local businesses and contractors will from time 
to time have an interest in the manner and approach adopted by Council when 
determining service delivery, purchasing and disposing of land and other assets. 
Council delegates authority to the Chief Executive Officer to make decisions regarding 
the matters covered in this policy where: 
 • the purchase of services or goods is less than or equal to appropriate funds 

which are specifically allocated and approved in the budget. 
 • the disposal of land where such land has been determined by Council to be 

surplus to requirements. 
 • the disposal of other assets is less than $50,000-, where such assets have 

been determined to be surplus to operational and/or organisational 
requirements 
 



128 

 
Council or its Officers with delegated authority will, when making decisions under this 
Policy, act in accordance with the Council's budget, relevant policies, plans, industrial 
Awards, Enterprise Agreements, resolutions etc.  
Council acknowledges that the Chief Executive Officer may sub-delegate matters 
related to this policy to staff or other persons employed or engaged by Council. 
 
Council may also delegate matters covered by this policy to its Committees or 
Subsidiaries.   
 
6.  Contracts and Tenders 
 • When undertaking contract and tender activities Council's decision making 

process will reflect the following:  
 • whether tendering will assist Council to achieve its strategic objectives and 

strategies. 
 • that customers of the service will not be disadvantaged. 
 • the responsibility of Council for the provision of the service will not be 

adversely affected. 
 • whether it is practical and possible to specify the quality and quantity of the 

service required to be delivered. 
 • whether it is deemed appropriate for Council to continue to ensure the 

service is provided. 
 • if following the completion of a market analysis, there is scope for the 

provision of the service by an external provider and there is potential to 
gain savings not currently available to Council. 

 • whether gains (financial and non-financial) are greater than what could be 
achieved through direct provision of the service by Council. 

 • the relationship between the service to be contracted or tendered to other 
related services in the Council. 
 

Where Council determines it will use a contract or tender arrangement under this Policy, 
it will decide whether: 
 • to adopt a selective or open tender process. 
 • to prepare appropriate documentation to inform potential providers of the 

service of the necessary information to formulate their tender and the 
manner in which to submit an offer. 

 • to offer an opportunity to "in house" teams to bid for the service and make 
it know to all external bidders that an "in house" team may be competing 
for the delivery of the service. 

 • to form a selection panel to consider offers made for the provision of the 
service; & whether the selection panel will make a recommendation to the 
Council or the CEO, depending upon delegations.  

 • to manage any complaints arising from the decisions made by Council 
consistent with its future Internal Review of Decisions Procedures. 

 • Council will make available procedures relevant to specific tendering 
activities. 
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7.  Documentation 
To assist in demonstrating that its service provision, purchasing and disposal processes 
are cost effective, fair, transparent and accountable, and meet community needs, 
Council will document the reasons for entering into contracts other than those resulting 
from a tender process. 
 
8.  Alteration or Substitution of Policy 
The effectiveness of this Policy will be reviewed and evaluated annually within 
Council’s strategic management planning framework.  The Chief Executive Officer will 
report to Council on the outcome of the evaluation, and make recommendations for 
amendments, alteration or substitution of a new Policy, if relevant. 
 
The Policy will not be altered or substituted so as to affect a process already 
commenced. 
 
9.  Availability of the Policy - The Policy is available for inspection at the Town Hall or 
Library located at 89-91 Murray Street, Gawler during ordinary business hours at no 
charge.   
 
This policy will be reviewed at least annually and may be retained, amended or revoked.

 
Public access to Documents 
 
The Council maintains a Register of Registers which detail the Registers held by Council for 
Public viewing. The following are a list of these Registers; 
 
Refer to Council Policy Manual for Freedom of Information and access to Council 
Documents. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct – Breaches 
 
*There have been no breaches by Members of the Code of Conduct. 
 
 
Senior Executive Officers Annual Salary 

 
The Senior Officers Salary comprises: 
 

• Base Salary 
• Contributory Motor Vehicle 
• Superannuation 
• Mobile Phone 
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Section 5: Appendices 
 

• List of Registers 
• List of Codes of Conduct 
• List of Council policies 
• Rating Policy 
• NAWMA Audited Accounts and Annual Report 
• GRFMA Audited Accounts 
• Council Delegations 
• Meeting notices, agendas, minutes, reports able to be supplied to members of the 

public, and Council resolutions 
• Public Access to Documents 

 
 
 

 
Gawler Railway Station and Goods sheds, c. 1920. 
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List of Registers 
 
The Council maintains a Register of Registers which detail the Registers held by Council for 
Public viewing. The following are a list of these Registers; 
 
 Document - Freedom of Information Statement 
 Register of Agreements 
 Register of Allowances and Benefits 
 Register of By-Laws  
 Register of Cemeteries 
 Register of Community Land 
 Register of Contracts 
 Register of Dog Registrations 
 Register of Fees and Charges 
 Register of Interests (Elected Members) 
 Register of Interests (Staff Members) 
 Register of Staff Remuneration and Salary Benefits 
 Register of Parking Controls 
 Register of Planning 
 Register of Public Roads 
 Register of Sub – Delegations 
 Register of Tenders 
 Manual of Council Policies 

 
Codes of Conduct 
The Council maintains Codes of Conduct for Council Members and Staff and for conduct of 
Meetings. Copies of these Policies may be obtained through the Town of Gawler Policy 
Manual or by visiting our Website www.gawler.sa.gov.au. The Codes of Conduct are: 
 Code of Conduct – Council Members* (Council Policy No.2.1) 
 Code of Conduct – Staff 
 Code of Practice for access to Council Meetings, Council Committees and Council 

Documents (Council Policy 3.1) 
 
*There have been no breaches by Members of the Code of Conduct. 
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List of Council Policies 
 
The Council reviewed and endorsed the current Town of Gawler Policy Manual and its 
Policies at the 25 of May 2006 Council Meeting. The following are a list of the Council 
Policies which may be reviewed at the Civic Centre Customer Service area or on the Council 
website.  
 
Policies  
 
• General 
 

• Copies Of Policies 
• Acting Chief Executive Officer – Appointment 
• Council’s Boundary Adjustments – Principles For Gawler 
• Council Decisions –Review Of Decisions Procedure 
• Order Making 
• Petitions 
• Plant & Machinery – Replacement 
• Public Consultation 
• Resource Sharing  
• Risk Management  
• Safe Environment  
• Vehicle – Commuter Use/Private Use Of Council Vehicles 
• Volunteer Policy 

 
• Elected Members 
 

• Code Of Conduct - Council Members 
• Elected Members – Allowances And Support 
• Meetings – Attendance Outside Gawler 
• Training & Development For Elected Members  

 
• Committee and Meetings 
 

• Code Of Practice For Access To Council Meetings, Council Committees And 
Council Documents 

• Committee – Delegation Of Powers 
• Council & Committee Meetings – Kaurna Statement Of Acknowledgement 
• Council & Committee Meetings – Order Of Agenda 
• Elected Members – Reports (Delegates Or Representatives) 
• Local Government (Procedures At Meetings) Regulations 2000 – Discretionary 

Procedures  
• Meetings – Motions Or Amendments 
• Meeting – Public Open Forum 
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• Rating and Finance 
 

• Competitive Tendering, Contracting, Purchasing, Sale & Disposal Of Land & 
Other Assets 

• Council Cheques – Authorisation To Sign 
• Council Rating Policy 
• Rates – Church Properties  

 
• Grants 
 

• Community Development Facility Hire Grants 
• Community Development Grant  
• Gawler Community Education Grant 
• Individual Sport And Cultural Grants 

 
• Council Properties 
 

• Cycleways  
• Elderly Centre 
• Gawler Institute Hall - Use 
• Parklands – Approval Of Use 
• Wood Collection From Council Property  

 
• Roads and Footpaths 
 

• Banners Over Roadways  
• Car Parking & Traffic Control – Gawler Show Days 
• Entranceways – Provision  
• Footpath Design Guidelines – Gawler Town Centre 
• Footpaths – Guidelines For The Construction Of Concrete Footpaths In Cul-De-

Sacs And Other Local Roads 
• Footpath Policy 
• Landscaping Of Footways 
• Property Numbering – Uniform Numbering On Road Kerbing 
• Road Closures – Murray Street 
• Stobie Poles - Painting 
• Street Naming 
• Street Tree Planting For New Land Divisions 
• Street Trees - Removal 
• Works Program – Urban Local Road Network 

 
• Planning and Development 
 

• Building Inspection Policy – Section 71a Development Act 1993 (Incorporating 
Planning Inspection Policy) 

• Caravans On Building Allotments – Occupation Of Caravans On Vacant Land  
• Compliance Development Act (Planning) 
• Development Applications – Notice Of Consideration 
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• Green Belt  
• Heritage Development Applications 
• Heritage Places – Photographic Survey 
• Heritage Places & Zones – Excavations, Archaeological Surveys 
• Land Divisions – Indentures, Bonds & Bank Guarantees 
• Licensed Premises – Liquor Licence & Gaming  
• Liquor Booths 
• Planning Appeals – Notification To Members 
• Reserves Along Watercourses 
• Rural Group Dwelling 
• Signs – Third Party Advertising On Council Reserves 
• Telecommunication Proposals 
• Trees Or Shrubs – New Dwelling  

 
• Council Services 
 

• Council Services 
• By-Law Enforcement - Fines 
• Dog Registrations – Strategic Policy And Notification Procedure 
• Kerbside Recycling – Green Organics 
• Kerbside Recycling – Provision Of Bins  
• Library - Regulations 
• Recreation  
• Shopping Trolleys (Abandoned) – Code Of Practice 
• Waste Collection – Provision Of Bins 
• Willaston Cemetery – Services Offered And Fee 

 
• Stormwater and Flood Management 
 

• Drainage – Management Of Gawler River Flood Plain 
• Drainage - Stormwater Drainage – Strategy For Evanston Area  
• Management Of Stormwater & Watercourses 

 
• Additional. Policies Endorsed Post Policy Manual Commencement 
 

• Sustainable Urban Development & Infrastructure Funding 
• 2006/2007 Town Of Gawler Rating Policy 
• Meeting Apologies from Elected Members 
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Rating Policy 
This document sets out the policy of the Town of Gawler for setting and collecting rates from its 
community. The policy covers: 
 
• purpose of the policy and principles 
• strategic focus, annual adoption of the Rating Policy 
• method used to value land 
• adoption of valuation 
• notional values 
• business impact statement 
• Council’s revenue raising powers 
• differential general rates 
• minimum rate 
• Natural Resources Management Levy 
• separate rates (car parking and Gawler Business Development Board) 
• rate concessions 
• state seniors card ratepayer (self funded retiree)m  
• pensioner concessions 
• other concessions 
• payment of rates 
• late payment of rates 
• remission and postponement of rates 
• rebate of rates 
• sale of land for non-payment of rates 
• application of the policy 
• disclaimer 
 
Contact for further details 
 
Rates Officer 
Phone: 08 8522 9243 
Fax: 08 8522 9212 
Email: council@gawler.sa.gov.au 
Town of Gawler 
89 Murray Street (PO Box 130) 
GAWLER SA 5118 
 
Purpose and Principles 
This policy documents the principles of the Town of Gawler in determining the rating policy 
for the 2006/2007 financial year. It is presented as a means for interested parties to form an 
understanding of the methods of rating and the impact on various sectors of the community. 
Councils are faced with the need to balance service levels within financial constraints while 
meeting the expectations of the community. Councils must discharge their legal obligations as 
determined by the several Acts of Parliament relative to the role of Local Government. 
Consequently responsible financial management and in particular, appropriate taxation (rates) 
levels are necessary to provide the financial resources to meet those expectations and 
obligations. All residents receive benefits from rates, but those benefits are consumed in 
varying quantities and over different time horizons over the lives of individuals. 
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The Town of Gawler’s rating policy is underpinned by the principles of taxation: 
 
• accountability and professional ethics, 
• community consultation 
• transparency and simplicity, 
• efficiency, 
• equitable distribution of the rate burden 
• consistency with the strategic directions of Council 
• compliance with relevant legislation 
 
Strategic Focus 
Council determined that in formulating a policy for setting its rates for the 2006/07 financial year, 
consideration be given to, 
 
• The budget for the 2006/07 financial year 
• The objectives of the Strategic Management Plan 2006-2016, which is reviewed annually 

with community consultation, 
• completion of long term capital projects, 
• appropriate loan borrowings, 
• new loans to adhere to the principles of intergenerational equity, 
• progressive reduction of overall debt, 
• recognising new growth to hold real residential average rate increases to around 6.5%, 
• The current economic climate and relevant factors such as inflation and interest rates. 
• Specific issues facing the community, which include; 

i. continuing to maintain, upgrade and expand infrastructure such as roads, river 
crossings, community facilities, Council buildings and footways 

ii. managing storm water through flood mitigation works 
iii. improving playground safety and accessibility 
iv. amenities improvement to the Gawler Caravan Park 
v. exploring resource sharing with neighbouring Councils 
vi. expanding waste management services and waste recycling 
vii. maintaining Council’s street cleaning program 
viii. preparing a community development and recreation plan 
ix. improving the amenity, facilities and services in the Town centre 
x. managing the fiscal impacts of servicing demand from Gawler’s regional 

catchment 
 

• The impact of rates on various sections of the community including:- 
i. householders, business and primary producers; 
ii. application of the broad principle that the rate in the dollar should identical for all 

properties unless clear circumstances warrant variation from that principle. 
iii. minimising the level of general rates required by applying user fees and charges 

for goods and services where that is possible, with provision for concessions to those 
members of the community unable to pay. 

In determining the overall rate revenue to be raised for the 2006/2007 period, Council considered 
several matters including movements in the Consumer Price Index (Adelaide) expected to be 3.1%, 
growth 0.9% (new development) and funding the initiatives in the annual budget. Additional rate 
revenue will yield Council approximately $578,421 for the 2006/2007 financial year before 
applying rebates. Council considered this would assist to generate sufficient revenue to meet cost 
increases and continue implementation of projects identified in Council’s Strategic Plan. 
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Annual Adoption of the Rating Policy 
Section 171 of the Local Government Act, 1999 requires a Council to prepare and adopt each year, 
in conjunction with setting the rates, a rates policy. The policy must be available at the principal 
office of the Council and a summary version must be distributed with the rates notice. 
This policy is available for inspection at Council’s Office at the address shown on page 2 of this 
document 
 
Method used to Value Land 
Council may adopt one of three valuation methodologies to value the properties in its area. 
They are: 
• Capital Value – the value of the land and all of the improvements on the land 
• Site Value – the value of the land and any improvements which permanently affect the 

amenity of use of the land, such as drainage works, but excluding the value of buildings 
and other improvements. 

• Annual Value – a valuation of the rental potential of the property. 
Council decided Capital valuations continue to be used as the basis for rating land within the 
council area for 2006/07 as it considers that this method of valuing land provides the fairest 
method of distributing the rate burden across all ratepayers. 
 
Adoption of Valuations 
The Council has adopted the valuations made by the State Valuation Office as provided to the 
Council at 7th July 2006. If a ratepayer is dissatisfied with the valuation made by the State 
Valuation Office then the ratepayer may object to the State Valuation Office in writing, within 
60 days of receiving the notice of the valuation, explaining the basis for the objection, 
provided they have not: (a) previously received a notice of this valuation under the Local 
Government Act 1999, in which case the objection period is 60 days from the receipt of the 
first notice; or (b) previously had an objection to the valuation considered by the State 
Valuation Office.  The address of the State Valuation Office is: 
 State Valuation Office 
 GPO Box 1354, Adelaide SA 5001 
 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide SA 5000 
 Phone: 1300 653 345 
 Email:  lsg.objections@saugov.sa.gov.au 
 
Council has no role in this process. Lodgement of an objection does not change the due 
date for the payment of rates. Penalties apply to unpaid rates. 
 
Notional Valuations 
Certain properties may be eligible for a notional value under the Valuation of Land Act 1971, 
where the property is the principal place of residence of a ratepayer. This can relate to certain 
primary production land or where there is State heritage recognition. A notional value is 
generally less than the capital value and this will result in reduced rates. Application for a 
notional value must be made to the Office of the Valuer-General. 
Council has no role in this process. Lodgement of an objection does not change the due 
date for the payment of rates. 
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Business Impact Statement 
Council has considered the impact of rates on all businesses in the Council area, particularly 
on those businesses in the Town Centre and the Town Centre Fringe Zones. The Traffic 
Management Strategy was adopted after consultation with businesses and its impact on businesses 
in the Town Centre/Town Centre Fringe Zones and included: 
 

• Consultation with businesses regarding the Car parking Strategy and the adoption of this 
strategy with businesses demonstrating their willingness to contribute to a car parking 
levy; 

• The planned changes to the Town Centre to produce a Town Centre which will become a 
significant economic driver for the town; 

• The Town Centre operating as the major retail/services precinct for Gawler, and 
adjacent metropolitan and country areas; 

• Ongoing consultation with businesses via the Gawler Business Development Board, 
Gawler Town Centre Action Committee, Gawler Tourism & Promotions Committee and 
the Willaston Business Action Committee 

• Council’s Strategic Plan addresses issues relevant to the business community, 
including: 

 
• Town Centre Development 
• Attracting new investment 
• Facilitating redevelopment opportunities 
• Implementation of the Traffic Management Strategy 
• Implementation of the Car parking Strategy 
• Promotion of the Town through tourism and event initiatives 
• A strong and vibrant business group. 

 
Council actively pursues the economic development of the town through: 
 

• Planned commercial development that reinforces Gawler’s built, natural and cultural 
heritage and character 

• Employment of a Manager Economic Development, who liaises with the business 
community, identifies development opportunities and oversees tourism promotions 

• Establishment of the Gawler Business Development Board & the Gawler Tourism & 
Promotions Committee 

• Funding and managing the Gawler Visitor Information Centre 
• Identifying opportunities for development and supporting these with expert and 

infrastructure services, examples include retail development and accommodation 
opportunities 

• Accessing funds through grants to support businesses with appropriate and relevant 
expert advice 

• facilitating Events to broaden Gawler’s base as a tourist and visitor destination 
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A number of development projects in conjunction with the business community are 
planned for the coming year, including: 
 

• Ongoing implementation of the Town Centre Management Plan 
• Ongoing implementation of the Car parking Strategy 
• Ongoing implementation of the Gawler Tourism Strategy 
• Continued liaison with the business community with organisations such as the Gawler 

Business Development Board, the Gawler Town Centre Action Committee, public 
forums and targeted meetings 

• The Gawler Town Centre Action Committee’s employment of a Marketing/Promotions 
person to implement a marketing plan for the Town Centre 

• Ongoing participation with the Northern Adelaide Business Enterprise Centre and the 
Northern Adelaide Development Board 

• Links have been established with the Adelaide Metropolitan Area Consultative 
Committee. 

 
Council’s Revenue Raising Powers 
All land within a Council area, except for land specifically exempt (e.g. crown land, Council 
occupied land and other land prescribed in the Local Government Act 1999 – refer Section 147 
of the Act), is rateable. The Local Government Act provides for a Council to raise revenue for the 
broad purposes of the Council through a general rate, which applies to all rateable properties, 
or through differential general rates, which apply to classes of properties. In addition, Council 
can raise separate rates, for specific areas of the Council or service rates or charges for specific 
services. The Council also raises revenue through fees and charges, which are set giving 
consideration to the cost of the service provided and any equity issues. The list of applicable 
fees and charges is available at the Council Office. 
 
Differential General Rates 
The Act allows Councils to differentiate rates based on the use of the land, the locality of the 
land or on the use and locality of the land. The Council has decided to impose differential 
general rates in its area according to the following land use categories defined by the Local 
Government (General) Regulations 1999; 

1. Residential - comprising the use of land for a detached dwelling, group dwelling, multiple 
dwelling, residential flat building, row dwelling or semi-detached dwelling within the 
meaning of the Development Regulations. 

2. Commercial-Shop – comprising the use of land for a shop within the meaning of the 
Development Regulations. 

3. Commercial-Office – comprising the use of land for an office within the meaning of the 
Development Regulations. 

4. Commercial-Other – comprising any other commercial use of land not referred to in 
categories 2 or 3. 

5. Industry-Light – comprising the use of land for a light industry within the meaning of the 
Development Regulations. 

6. Industry-Other – comprising any other industrial use of land not referred to in category 5. 
7. Primary Production – comprising 
8. farming within the meaning of the Development Regulations; and 
9. horticulture within the meaning of the Development Regulations; and 
10. the use of land for horse keeping or intensive animal keeping within the meaning of the 

Development Regulations; and 
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11. in respect of a dairy situated on the farm – the use of land for a dairy within the 

meaning of the Development Regulations; and 
12. commercial forestry. 
13. Vacant Land – comprising the non-use of vacant land 
14. Other – not included previously in the categories above. 
 

The main reasons for providing differential rates are: 
(a) not all ratepayers receive the same benefits; 
(b) recognising the ability to pay. 
 
At the Council Meeting on 25 July 2006, Council resolved to raise general rate revenue of 
$8,986,993.00 in a total revenue budget of $18,489,413.00. 
As a result of this decision the Council has set the following differential rates for the above land 
uses. 

• 0.438192 cents in the dollar of the Capital Value of rateable land of categories 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 
6, 8 and 9 use, 

• 0.381309 cents in the dollar of the Capital Value of rateable land of categories 7 use, 
 
Minimum Rate 
A Council may impose a minimum amount payable by way of rates, provided that it has not 
imposed a fixed charge. Where two or more adjoining properties have the same owner and are 
occupied by the same occupier, only one minimum rate is payable by the ratepayer (if 
applicable). Where a Council imposes a minimum rate it must not apply to more than 35% of 
properties in the Council area. 
The Council has decided to impose a minimum rate of $600. This will affect approximately 
16.4% of the total rateable properties. The reason for imposing a minimum rate is that the 
Council considers it appropriate that all rateable properties make a base level contribution to the 
cost of administering the Council’s activities and to the cost of creating and maintaining the 
physical infrastructure that supports each property. 
 
Natural Resources Management Levy 
 
The Town of Gawler falls within the Adelaide & Mount Lofty Ranges Natural Resources 
Management region.  Council is required under the Natural Resources Management Act 
to make a specified annual contribution to the Natural Resource Management Boards. 
The Minister for Environment and Conservation has advised that Council is required to 
raise $185,362 for the Adelaide & Mount Lofty Ranges Natural Resources Management 
Board in the 2006/2007 financial year.  Consequently, Council is imposing a separate 
rate of 0.009292 cents in the dollar against the 8763 properties that are in the board area 
in this Council. 
 
Council has limited input in determining Natural Resources Management projects within the 
district and does not retain this revenue.  For further information contact: 
 

Adelaide & Mount Lofty Ranges NRM Board:  Ph 1300 764 489 
Separate Rates 
Section 154 of the Local Government Act permits Councils to raise a separate rate on 
properties which may benefit from a project or undertaking. 



141 

Car Parking Levy 
In order to raise $309,000 to carry out the provision of additional car parking in the Town 
Centre and adjoining areas for the purpose of enhancing business viability in that part of the 
Council’s area, a separate differential rate of 0.2794 cents in the dollar based on the capital value 
of the properties has been declared on all rateable land that falls within land use categories 2, 3, 4, 5 
and 6 (commercial-shop, commercial-office, commercial-other, industry-light, industry-other) and 
is located within the area delineated and marked “A” in Figure 1. 
 
Town Centre – Business Development and Marketing Levy 
In order to raise $80,000 to support the role of the Gawler Business Development Board to 
develop, run and manage integrated programs for the economic benefit of the business 
community (Business Development Levy) and to develop additional town centre marketing 
for the economic benefit of the  Town Centre business community (Town Centre 
Marketing Levy), a separate differential rate of 0.0724 cents in the dollar based on the capital 
value of the properties has been declared on all rateable land that falls within land uses of 
categories 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 (commercial-shop, commercial-office, commercial-other, industry-light, 
industry-other) and is located within the area delineated and marked “A” in Figure 1. This 
separate rate on land situated within the detailed area is a combination of the Business 
Development Levy and the Town Centre Marketing Levy. 
 
Business Development Levy 
In order to raise $35,000 to support the role of the Gawler Business Development Board to 
develop, fund and manage integrated programs for the economic benefit of the business 
community located outside the Town Centre, a separate differential rate 0.0451 cents in the dollar 
based on the capital value of the properties has been declared on all rateable land that falls within 
land uses of categories 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 (commercial-shop, commercial-office, commercial-other, 
industry-light, industry-other) and is located within the area delineated and marked “B” in Figure 
1. 
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Figure 1 

 
 

Pensioner Concessions 
 
An eligible pensioner may be entitled to a concession on Council rates. Telephone enquiries 
regarding entitlements should be made to: 
 

SA Water on telephone number 1300 650 950. 
 

Applications are administered by the State Government.   
Payment of rates should not be withheld pending assessment of an application by the State 
Government as penalties apply to unpaid rates. A refund of rates will be paid to an eligible 
pensioner if Council is advised that a concession applies and the rates have already been 
paid.  
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Self Funded Retirees 
If you are a self-funded retiree you may be eligible for a concession on your rates. For further 
details contact: 
 

Revenue SA on 1300 366 150. 
 
Payment of rates should not be withheld pending assessment of an application as penalties 
apply to unpaid rates. 
Other Concessions 
 

Families SA may assist with the payment of Council rates for your principal place of 
residence (remissions are not available on vacant land or rental premises).  Please contact: 
 

your nearest Families SA office (Gawler Office Ph 8522 3144) for details. 
 
It is important to note that seeking a remission does not change the due date for payment of 
rates. Penalties apply to unpaid rates. 
 
Payment of Rates 
Council has determined that rates will be payable in four equal (or approximately equal) 
quarterly instalments which will fall due on the following dates: 
 

22 September 2006 
8 December 2006 
9 March 2007 
8 June 2007 

 
Rates may be paid: 

• At any Post Office; by Cash, Cheque, Direct Debit or Credit Card. 
• Billmanager facilities 
• Post office Billpay phone 131816; by Credit Card or Direct Debit  
• Post Office Internet Site www.postbillpay.com.au Credit Card or Direct Debit 

(after once off registration) 
• BPAY, contact your banking institution for registration and further information. 
• In person at 89 Murray Street by cash, cheque, Direct Debit or Credit Card 9-00am to 5-

00pm Monday to Friday; 
• Council phone service by phoning 1300 303 201 and enter Council four digit number 

4338 to proceed 
• Internet Credit Card payment option at www.gawler.sa.gov.au 
• By posting a cheque/Money Order to PO Box 130, GAWLER SA 5118. 

 
Any ratepayer who may, or is likely to, experience difficulty with meeting the standard 
payment arrangements is invited to contact the Rates Officer, on 8522 9243, to discuss 
alternative payment arrangements. Such inquiries are treated confidentially by the Council. 
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The Council has adopted a policy that where the payment of rates will cause a ratepayer 
demonstrable hardship, the Council is prepared to make available extended payment 
arrangements. 
 
Rate Capping 
For 2006/2007 Council will provide a rate cap of 15% to eligible ratepayers’ principle place 
of residence to protect against increased rates brought about by abnormal fluctuations in 
property valuations.  
 
The rebate applies only to the principle place of residence and is not applicable to 
Commercial, Industrial, Primary Production, Vacant Land or any other classifications. 
 
A rebate of general rates for the 2006/2007 period will be granted to the principle ratepayer of 
an assessment pursuant to Section 166(1) (l) of the Act, on application to the Council, where 
the amount of any increase in rates in respect of that assessment in monetary terms between 
the amount of general rates payable for the 2005/2006 financial year (after any rebate was 
applied) and the amount of general rates in monetary terms imposed for the 2006/2007 
financial year is greater than 15% and more than $50. The amount of the rebate will be the 
difference between the amount of general rates in monetary terms imposed for the 2006/2007 
financial year and the amount of general rates in monetary terms payable for the 2005/2006 
financial year (after any rebate was applied but prior to deducting any pensioner or other 
concessions) plus 10% of that amount. 
 
The rebate will not apply where: 
• any such increase is due in whole or part to an increase in valuation of the land in the 

assessment because of improvements made to it worth more than $20,000, or 
• any such increase is in whole or part because the zoning of the land has been changed, or 
• any such increase is due in full or part to the use of the land being different for rating 

purposes on the date Council declared its general rates for the 2006/2007 financial year, 
than on the date the Council declared its general rates for the 2005/2006 year, or 

• the ownership of the rateable property has changed since 1 July 2005, or 
• the assessment is not for the ratepayer's principle place of residence, or 
• the land use classification is other than residential. 

 
Late Payment of Rates 
Section 181 of the Local Government Act provides that Councils may impose a 2% fine on non 
payment for rates, whether instalment or otherwise, received after the due date. A payment 
that continues to be late is then charged at an interest rate, set each year according to a formula 
in the Act, for each month it continues to be late. The purpose of this penalty is to act as a 
genuine deterrent to ratepayers who might otherwise fail to pay their rates on time, to allow 
Councils to recover the administrative cost of following up unpaid rates and to cover any 
interest cost the Council may meet because it has not received the rates on time. For the 
2006/07 financial year this rate is 0.81% per month. 
The Council issues a final notice for payment of rates when rates are overdue. (i.e. unpaid by the 
due date) Should rates remain unpaid more than 21 days after the issue of the final notice 
then the Council refers the debt to a debt collection agency for collection. The debt collection 
agency charges collection fees that are recoverable from the ratepayer. 
When the Council receives a payment in respect of overdue rates the Council applies the 
money received as follows: 
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• First – to satisfy any costs awarded in connection with court proceedings; 
• Second – to satisfy any interest costs; 
• Third – in payment of any fines imposed; 
• Fourth – in payment of rates, in chronological order (the oldest account first). 
 

Remission and Postponement of Rates 
Section 182 of the Local Government Act permits the Council, on the application of a 
ratepayer, to partially or wholly remit rates or to postpone rates, on the basis of hardship. 
Where a ratepayer is suffering hardship in paying rates he/she is invited to contact the Rates 
Officer, on 8522 9243, to discuss the matter. Such inquiries are treated confidentially. Any 
agreement for remission or postponement must be agreed in writing between the principal 
ratepayer and Council. 
 

Rebate of Rates 
The Local Government Act 1999 mandates Councils to rebate general rates payable on certain 
uses of land. Land used for health services, community services, religious purposes, public 
cemeteries, the Royal Zoological Society) and educational institutions. Section 159 prescribes 
the form of application and Council may require written applications providing information as 
required. The information that may be gathered by the delegated officer to determine whether 
a rebate applies may be: 
 

• The constitution of the organisation applying for the rebate; 
• Certificate of incorporation or other evidence of identity; 
• Financial Statements with respect to the organisation applying for the 

rebate or any other partner organisations; 
• A statement with respect to the sources of funding with respect to the 

organisation applying for the rebate or any other partner organisations; 
• Statutory declarations with respect to the information provided by the 

organisation applying for the rebate or any other partner organisations; 
• Or any other information the officer considers appropriate. 
 

Discretionary rebates may be applied by the Council pursuant to section 166 of the Local 
Government Act 1999 Act. 
 
Subject to this policy, for the 2006/2007 year the following rebates will apply:- 

• Rebates to James Martin Nursing Home, Southern Cross Hostel, Martindale Nursing 
Home, Trevu Nursing Home and Gawler & District Aged Cottage Homes to have the 
effect of those ratepayers receiving a maximum rebate of 50% on their 2006/07 general 
rates. 

• Rebates to principal ratepayers of rateable land in rural zones as defined in the 
development plan, for land use categories 1, 8 and 9 where such rateable land is equal to 
or greater than 0.4 hectares and who will not receive a rebate for any other circumstance 
within Chapter 10 Part 1 Division 5 – for the financial year 2006/07, a rebate for general 
rates will have the effect that these ratepayers will pay the same rate in the dollar as 
Primary Production Ratepayers. 

• Rebates on application and the provision of appropriate evidence of use as solely 
Primary Production, rebates are provided so that these properties attract a higher 
rebate up to 50% of the residential rate for the financial year 2005/06. 
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• Rebates to Dalkeith Caravan Park & Hillier Park, given their localities, to have the 

effect that these Ratepayers pay the same rate in the dollar as Primary Production 
Ratepayers. 

• Rebates to Residential Ratepayers, who are subject to tenancy apportionments, of 80%. 
The rebate is calculated on the difference between the rates payable under tenancy 
apportionments & the amount that would have been payable if tenancy apportionments 
were not applied (80% of the difference is rebated). 

 
The information that may be gathered by the delegated officer with respect to determining 
whether or not a rebate should be granted is at least that required for mandatory rebates. 
Section 159 provides for significant penalties where ratepayers provide misleading 
information to obtain or maintain a particular rebate when the circumstances for the granting 
of that rebate have changed. Consequently, the delegated officer may request that ratepayers 
previously granted a rebate reapply for any particular year. 
The Council may in its absolute discretion and on terms particular to each application, provide a 
rebate to certain ratepayers who have restrictions on development of their property where such 
rebates are desirable to secure proper development of an area or a part of an area. 
 
Sale of land for Non-Payment of Rates 
Section 184 of the Local Government Act 1999 provides that a Council may sell any property 
where the rates have been in arrears for three years or more. The Council is required to notify 
the owner of the land of its intention to sell the land, provide the owner with details of the 
outstanding amounts, and advise the owner of its intention to sell the land if payment of the 
outstanding amount is not received within one month. 
Except in extraordinary circumstances, the Council enforces the sale of the land for arrears of 
rates. 
 
Application of the Policy 
Where a ratepayer believes that the Council has failed to properly apply this policy they should 
raise the matter with Council. In the first instance contact the Rates Officer on 85229243 for a 
confidential discussion. If, after this initial contact, a ratepayer is still dissatisfied they should 
write to: 

Neil Jacobs 
Chief Executive Officer 
Town of Gawler 
PO Box 130 
GAWLER SA 5118 
 

Disclaimer 
A rate cannot be challenged on the basis of non-compliance with this policy and must be paid 

in accordance with the required payment provisions. 
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NAWMA Audited Accounts and Annual Report 
The competitive neutrality measure applied to 

NAWMA



148 



149 



150 

 



151 

 



152 

 



153 

 GRDB Audited Accounts 
 

 

 

 
Constituent Councils: Adelaide Hills Council 

The Barossa Council 
Town of Gawler 
Light Regional Council 

District Council of Mallala 
City of Playford  

 

 

Address : 

Telephone: 
Mobile: 
Facsimile: 
Email: 
Web Site: 

19 Charles Street 
Norwood South Australia 5067 
(08 )  8363  2969  040 778 
2255 
(08) 8363 9783 
contact @fredpedler.com 
www.fredpedler.com 
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Chairman’s Forward 
"The Threads Come Together" 

It is a pleasure, with some relief, to know that the funding has been agreed; that a contract 
has been signed for the flood mitigation dam site earth works; hydrology examination in 
respect of the South Para Dam wall is nearing completion; and extensive calculations and 
consultation of the work to be undertaken in the lower Gawler River area is continuing apace. 
Regrettably the commencement of work on the mitigation dam had to be delayed pending 
outstanding approvals. A realistic time schedule is now in place to provide flood relief in 2007. Co-
operation from land-owners along the North Para River has seen the majority of easements required 
confirmed with the remaining small number nearing completion. 

Lessons learnt from the 2005 flood experience in the Virginia/Two Wells area are being factored 
into the final plan and the procurement of easements to correct or relocate riverbank levees 
will progress in the months ahead. 

I mentioned the word "relief' in the opening paragraph. For those of us (and the Councils 
involved) who have been working on the successful completion of a flood management plan, 
first identified in 1993, a proposed finish date of 2007/2008 is now a reality and a relief. 

Dr Bruce Eastick AM 
Chairman 

GRFMA 
The Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority (GRFMA) was formed as a Regional 
Subsidiary under Section 43 and Schedule 2 of the Local Government Act 1999, by a Charter 
published in The South Australian Government Gazette on 22nd August 2002. The Constituent 
Councils are the Adelaide Hills Council, The Barossa Council, The Town of Gawler, Light Regional 
Council, District Council of Mallala and the City of Playford. 
The Charter provides that a representative of the Northern Adelaide and Barossa Catchment 
Water Management Board is the Chairperson of the Board of Management of the GRFMA. The 
Charter sets down the powers, functions, safeguards, accountabilities and an operational 
framework and the Business Plan sets down the operational plan and financial plan to achieve 
agreed objectives. 

The GRFMA has been established for the following purposes: 

1. To co-ordinate the construction, operation and maintenance of flood mitigation infrastructure in 
the Gawler River area (the Floodplain); 

2. To raise finance for the purpose of developing, managing and operating and maintaining 
flood mitigation works within the Floodplain; 

3. To provide a forum for the discussion and consideration of topics relating to the Constituent 
Council’s obligations and responsibilities in relation to management of flood mitigation within 
the Floodplain; 

4. To enter into agreements with Constituent Councils for the purpose of managing and 
developing the Floodplain. 

Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority Annual Report 2005 - 2006 
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The Board 

The Members of the Board for the year were: 

AMLRNRMB Dr Bruce Eastick AM, Chair 
Adelaide Hills Council Cr Ian Bailey 

Mr Peter Peppin, CEO 

The Barossa Council Mayor Brian Hurn OAM 
Ms Judith Jones, CEO 

Gawler Council Cr Brian Thom 
Mr Neill Jacobs, CEO 

Light Regional Council Cr Ralph Hatcher 
Mr Peter Beare, CEO 

District Council of Mallala Cr Michael Picard 
Mr Colin Dunlop, CEO 

City of Playford Cr Max O’Rielly 
Mr Tim Jackson, CEO 

Ordinary meetings of the Board are held bi-monthly on the third Thursday of the even months 
commencing at 9.00 AM. Meetings are hosted by the Constituent Councils on a rotational roster. 
Ten Board meetings, including three Special Meetings were held during the year as follows: 

Thursday 21st July 2005 Angaston 
Thursday 18th August 2005 Gawler 

Thursday 20th October 2006 Mallala 

Friday 25th November 2005 Gawler (Special Meeting) 

Thursday 15th December 2005 Elizabeth 

Thursday 23rd February 2006 Kapunda 

Friday 24th March 2006 Gawler (Special Meeting) 

Thursday 20th April 2006 Gumeracha 

Tuesday 23rd May 2006 Gawler (Special Meeting) 

Thursday 15th June 2006 Angaston 

A Key Outcomes Summary is prepared following each Board Meeting that highlights the key issues 
and achievements and is distributed to Stakeholders electronically. The Board also provides a 
Quarterly Report to its Constituent Councils. 

Mr Fred Pedler, Principal of Fred Pedler & Associates, has been engaged to provide Executive 
Officer services under a services agreement until 31st December 2007. Mr Pedler has experience 
in the administration of Councils and regional subsidiaries under the Local Government Act. 

The following Policies have been adopted to provide management guidelines for the day-to-day 
business of the GRFMA: 

Policy A1 - Access to Meetings and Documents 

Policy C1 - Consultation 

Policy I1 - Internal Review of Decisions 

Policy O1 – Operations Manual 

Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority Annual Report 2005 - 2006 
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Funding 

The November 2005 floods, a 1 in 20 year flood event, that due to a breach of the levee near 
Bakers Road resulting in extensive flooding of 220 properties, including 30 homes, in the Virginia 
region causing damages estimated at $40 million. While the flood devastated the Virginia 
community it brought a focus for all of the stakeholders to commit to fund the Scheme. Funding is 
now in place by the Australian Government ($7.75 million), South Australian Government ($7.75 
million) and $4.5 million from the constituent Councils – Adelaide Hills Council, Barossa Council, 
Town of Gawler, Light Regional Council, District Council of Mallala and the City of Playford – and 
the Northern Adelaide and Barossa Catchment Water Management Board. 

Scheme Costs 

The total estimated cost of the scheme is $20 million made up of the following parts: 
 

North Para Flood Control Dam and flow gauge weir 

South Para Reservoir flood mitigation works Lower 

Gawler River works and levees 

C h a r t e r  

$14.7 million 

$2.2 million 

$3.1 million 

 
Following a review of the Charter over a period of several months the Board made a number of 
recommendations to the Constituent Councils to amend the Charter. The changes will provide 
more certainty in the governance arrangements to approve budgets and Council contributions, will 
align the reporting requirements with current practice, and allow for the appointment of proxy Board 
Members. The Councils have unanimously adopted the changes that will come into effect in 
August 2006. 

Technical Assessment Panel 

A Technical Assessment Panel has been appointed to support the decision-making processes of 
the Board with delegated powers to provide advice and manage the technical aspects of the 
design, assessment and construction of the various parts of the Scheme: 

The Members of the panel are: 

Dr Bruce Eastick, Chair 
Fred Pedler, Executive Officer, GRFMA 

Keith Downard, Technical Manager, Adelaide Mount Lofty Ranges Natural Resources 
Management Board 
Chris Williams, Manager Procurement & Risk Management, City of Playford 

Bill Lipp, Principal Stormwater Engineer, Department for Transport, Energy and Infrastructure 

Andy Parsons, Principal Engineer Dams & Civil, SA Water Corporation 

The Panel meets as the agenda requires and held ten meetings during the year as follows: 

Thursday 

Tuesday 

Friday 

Tuesday 

Wednesday 

28th July 2005 

16th August 2005 

16th September 2005 
24th January 2006 
22nd February 2006 

Walkerville 

Hackney 

Walkerville 

Walkerville 

Adelaide 

Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority Annual Report 2005 - 2006 
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Wednesday 8th March 2006 Adelaide 

Thursday 23rd March 2006 Walkerville 

Thursday 30th March 2006 Walkerville 

Friday 12th May 2006 Walkerville 

Thursday 22nd June 2006 Walkerville 

Timelines 

Subject to necessary development approvals, licences and clearances, excavation work at the 
North Para River dam site will commence in the summer of 2006-2007. 

Dam wall construction, using roller compacted concrete, will commence in April 2007. The 
weather at that time will be most conducive to the concrete mixing process to achieve maximum 
strength and integrity of the dam wall. 

The design and assessment of the Lower Gawler River Works that will involve the identification of 
a parallel flow path north of the Gawler River west of the Old Port Wakefield Road is to be 
completed by late 2006 with works commencing in 2007. 

Following a more detailed hydrology study of the Gawler River catchment the design requirements 
for the works to modify the South Para Reservoir to provide a flood mitigation capability will be 
completed in 2006. Detailed design and assessment of those works will continue in 2007 with 
construction planned for summer of 2007 

The full scheme is expected to be operational by Spring 2008. 

General 

Information about the GRFMA, the Scheme and a number of documents are available on the 
website www.fredpedler.com and goto grfma. 

The GRFMA has no employees and all services are engaged on a contract basis 

Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority Annual Report 2005 - 2006 
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GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Statement of Financial Position as at 30th June 2006 

Operating Statement for the Year Ending 30th June 2006 
   2006 2005 
   Notes   $ 

2006 2005
 Notes  $ $ Current Assets    
  Cash 1 (e) 0 19,338 
Operating Revenue  Investments 1 (d) 1,945,991 2,389,751 
  Debtors - GST 14,442 8,640 
Subscriptions 3 24,000 24,000 Total Current Assets  1,960,433 2,417,729 
Investment Income 1 (d) 105,400 97,092  
Other  463 0 Current Liabilities    
 Bank Overdraft  30,828 0 
Total Income  129,863 121,092 Sundry Creditors 0 
    Total Current Liabilities  30,828 0 

Operating Expenses    Net Current Assets  1,929,605 2,417,729 
Contractual Services 5 47,655 50,750  
Finance Charges  1,424 703   
Other  12,505 5,974 Non Current Assets    

 Designs Infrastructure 4 983,568 718,579 
Total Expenditure 

 61,584 57,427 Infrastructure 0 0 
 Land 4 798,393 9,563 
Surplus / (Deficit) from Operations  68,277 63,665 Total Non Current Assets  1,781,961 728,142 
Capital Revenues 

   
Non Current Liabilities 

   

 0 
0 

0 
0 Subscriptions 

NABCWMB Contribution 

3 401,810 
62,710 

1,151,315 
179,685 

Creditors 
Loans 

State Government Grants  0 0 Total Non Current Assets 0 0 
Commonwealth Government Grants  32,898 142,052  
    Net Assets  3,711,566 3,145,871 
Total Capital Revenues  497,418 1,473,052     
  Equity  
Surplus / (Deficit)  565,695 1,536,717     

 Accumulated Surplus  3,711,566 2,861,858  
Reserves 4 284,013

The above Operating Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes    

  Total Equity 3,711,566 3,145,871  
The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes1 2  
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GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY 

Statement of Change in Equity for the Year Ended 30th June 2006 Statement of Cash Flows for the Year Ended 30th June 2006 

Accumulated Surplus 

2006 

Notes $ 

2005 

$ 

Cash Flows from Operating 

2006 

Notes $ 

2005 

$ 

Balance at beginning of period 2,861,858 1,325,141 Activities   
Net Surplus / (Deficit) 565,695 1,536,717 Receipts 582,849 1,632,552 
Transfer from reserves 284,013 Payments (128,355) (201,567) 

105,400 97,092 
Balance at end of period Interest Receipts 

3,711,566 2,861,858  Net Cash Provided by Operating 559,894 1,528,077 
Asset Revaluation Reserve   Activities   
Balance at beginning of period 284,013 0 Cash Flows from Financing   

Designs Infrastructure   Activities   
Expenditure 2004 0 251,707 Financing activities 0 0 
Expenditure 2003 0 32,306 Net Cash Provided by Financing 0 0 
Transfer to Surplus 284,013 0 Activities   

Balance at end of period 0 284,013 Cash Flows from Investment   
 Activities   
   Payments – Designs Infrastructure and (1,053,819) (444,130) 

 
Total Equity 

Land 

3,711,566 3,145,871  Net Cash Used in Investment (1,053,819) (444,130) 
The above Statement of Change in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes Activities   
 Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash (493,925) 1,083,947 
 Held   

 Cash at the beginning of the 
reporting period 

2,409,088 1,325,141 

 Cash at the end of the reporting 
period 

1,915,163 2,409,088 

 
The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes3 4  
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1 Statement of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) The Local Government Reporting Entity 

This financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared for use by the Gawler River Floodplain 
Management Authority. The Board has determined that the Authority is not a reporting entity. 

The Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority is a Regional Subsidiary under Section 43 and 
Schedule 2 0f the Local Government Act 1999. The Constituent Councils are the Adelaide Hills Council, 
The Barossa Council, Town of Gawler, Light Regional Council, District Council of Mallala and the City of 
Playford. 

All funds received and expended by the Authority have been included in the financial statements forming 
part of this financial report. 

(b) Basis of Accounting This financial report has been prepared in accordance with the 
following Accounting Standards: 

AAS 5 Materiality 

No other applicable Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views or other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board have been applied. 

3 Subscriptions 
The following subscriptions were levied on the Constituent Councils in accordance with Clause 10.2 of the 
Charter for the year: 

Constituent Council Scheme Works Operations 
 2006 2005 2006 2005 
Adelaide Hills Council $6,970 $19,965 $4,000 $4,000 
The Barossa Council $34,840 $99,825 $4,000 $4,000 
Town of Gawler $69,680 $199,650 $4,000 $4,000 
Light Regional Council $34,840 $99,825 $4,000 $4,000 
District Council of Mallala $116,130 $332,750 $4,000 $4,000 
City of Playford $139,350 $399,300 $4,000 $4,000 

 
Total $401,810 $1,151,315 $24,000 $24,000 

 
4 Non Current Assets, Non Current Liabilities 

The following are the Non Current Assets: 

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historic costs and does not 
take into account changing money values, or except where specifically stated, current valuations of non- 
current assets. 2002 - 2003 2003 - 2004 2004 - 2005 2005 - 2006 Total 

Designs Infrastructure 

North Para 
South Para 
Lower Gawler 
River 

$23,699 
$8,608 

$245,757 
$180 

$5,770 

$336,799 
$1,350 

$96,416 

$200,972 
$22,295 
$41,722 

$807,227 
$32,433 

$143,908 

Total 

Infrastructure 

$32,307 $251,707 $434,565 $264,989 $983,568 

Total 

Land 

0 0 0 

$9,563 

0 

$788,830 

$0 

$798,393 
Total 

 
$9,563 $788,830 $798,393 

2 (c) Employees 

The Association has no employees. 

(d) Investments 
Investments are valued at cost. Interest revenues are recognized as they accrue. 

(e) Cash 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash deposits which are readily convertible to 
cash on hand and which are used in the cash management function on a day to day basis, net of 
outstanding bank overdraft. 

Functions / Activities of the Association 
(a) Revenues and expenses have been attributed to the following functions / activities, descriptions of which 

are set out in Note 2b. 
(b) The activities of the Authority are catagorised into the following function / activities: 

Administration: The operations of the Authority and its Board 

Other Environment: Flood Mitigation 

Note 2b Functions of the Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

Administration 

Total $32,307 

There are no Non Current Liabilities 

$251,707 $444,128 $1,053,819 $1,781,961 

Year Grants Revenue 
Other Total 

Revenue 

% Expenses 
Expenses % 

Total 

Surplus 
(Deficit) 

2006 0 129,863 129,400 20.6% 60,732 5.4% 68,668 

2005 0 121,092 121,092 7.5% 57,427 10.2% 63,665 

Other Environment: Flood Mitigation      

2006 32,898 464,520 497,418 79.4% 1,054,813 94.6% (556,933) 

2005 142,052 1,331,000 1,473,052 92.5% 444,130 89.8% 1,028,922 

Total        

2006 32,898 594,382 627,280 100.0% 1,115,545 100.0% (488,265) 
2005 142,052 1,452,092 1,594,144 100.0% 501,557 100.0% 1,092,587 

 
5 6  
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5 Contractual Services 

Contractual Services involve payments or liabilities for the external provision of services and include (net of 
GST): 

2006 

$47,655 

$43,560 
$32,377 
$20,575 
$75,625 
$25,020 
$21,420 
$47,947 

2005 

$50,750

$19,325
$8,875

0
$307,303
$16,380

0
$89,752

6 

Consultants Operations 

Fred Pedler & Associates 

Consultants Designs Infrastructure 
: Fred Pedler & Associates 

Maloney Field Services 
Allsurv Engineering Services Pty Ltd 
URS Australia Pty Ltd 
Arup Water 
Dept Transport Energy Infrastructure 
Australian Water Environments 

Totals 

Comparison of Budget and Actual Results 

$314,179 

2006 

$492,385

2005

 
Budget 

$ 
Actual 
$ 

Budget 
$ 

Actual 
$ 

Revenue     
Administration 128,050 129,400 109,000 121,092 
Other Environment: Flood Mitigation 0 462 0 0 
Maintenance    
Other Environment: Flood Mitigation Capital 500,520 497,418 1,966,334 1,473,052 
Total Revenue 628,570 627,280 2,075,334 1,594,144 
Expenditure    
Administration 62,979 60,732 57,985 57,427 
Other Environment: Flood Mitigation  994 0 0 
Maintenance    
Other Environment: Flood Mitigation Capital 1,067,014 1,053,819 1,394,758 444,130 
Total Expenditure 1,129,993 1,115,545 1,452,743 501,557 
Surplus (Deficit) (501,423) (488,265) 622,591 1,092,587 
  

7 Expenditure Commitment 

1. An agreement has been entered into with URS Australia Pty Ltd to undertake call tenders and evaluate 
tenders work at a cost of $47,678 (net of GST). 

2. An agreement has been entered into with the Department for Transport Energy and Infrastructure to undertake a 
catchment hydrology study at a cost of $27,000 (net of GST). 

3. An agreement has been entered into with Australian Water Environments to undertake assessments and 
prepare designs for the Lower Gawler River Works at a cost of $213,250 (net of GST). 

4. An agreement has been entered into with SA Water Corporation to undertake design work of the South Para 
Reservoir dam wall and spillway at a cost of $110,000 (net of GST). 

5. An agreement has been entered into with SA Water to relocate the 300 mm water main at the North Para Dam 
site at a cost of $410,000 (net of GST). 

6. An agreement has been entered into with Fred Pedler & Associates to provide Executive Officer and 
Supervision of Consultants services to 31st December 2007. 

7. The State Government has approved funding for the Gawler River Flood Mitigation Scheme totalling 
$7,750,000 of which $293,000 has been paid to the Authority. 

8. The Commonwealth Government has approved funding for the Gawler River Flood Mitigation Scheme under 
the Regional Flood Mitigation Program totaling $7,750,000 of which $266,172 has been paid to the Authority. 

Executive Officer’s Statement 

I, Frederick William Pedler, the person for the time being occupying the position of 
Executive Officer of the Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority do hereby state 
that the financial statements for the Authority for the 2005 - 2006 financial year are to the 
best of my knowledge presented fairly and in accordance with accounting procedures 
which have been maintained in accordance with the Local Government Act 1999 and the 
Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1999 made under that Act. 

 

Adoption Statement 

Laid before the Board Meeting of the Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority and 
Adopted on Thursday 17th August 2006 

 

7 8  
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GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY 
Independent Auditors Report 

T
o the Constituent Councils of the GAWLER RIVER FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT 
AUTHORITY 

Scope 

We have audited the attached special purpose financial report on pages 1 to 8 comprising the 
Operating Statement, Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity, 
Statement of Cash flows, Notes to the Financial Statements and Statement by the Executive 
Officer for the year ended 30th June 2006. Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority’s 
Board is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the financial report and the 
information contained therein, and has determined that the accounting policies used are 
consistent with the financial reporting requirements of their constitution and are appropriate to 
meet the needs of the members. We have conducted an independent audit of the financial 
statements in order to express an opinion on them. No opinion is expressed as to whether the 
accounting policies used are appropriate to the needs of the members. 

The financial report has been prepared for distribution to members for the purpose of fulfilling the 
Authority’s financial reporting requirements. As such, we disclaim any assumption of responsibility 
for reliance on this report or on the financial report to which it relates to any person other than the 
members, or for any purpose other than that which it was prepared. The audit has been 
conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance as 
to whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The procedures included an 
examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the 
financial statements, and evaluation of accounting policies and significant account estimates. These 
procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion as to whether in all material respects, 
the financial statements are presented fairly in accordance with the accounting policies described in 
Note 1 of the financial statements. (These policies do not require the application of all Accounting 
Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia). 
The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the basis above. 

Audit Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority are 
properly drawn up in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements, and fairly present the financial position of the Gawler River Floodplain Management 
Authority as at 30th June 2006 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended. 

 
9 
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Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 
Schedule of Constituent Council's Interests in Net Assets as at 30th June 2006 

Prepared to meet the requirements of Clause 15.5 of the Charter 

"The ‘Schedule of Constituent Councils’ Interests in Net Assets’ will reflect the proportionate contribution 
each Constituent Council has made to the growth of the net assets of the Authority having regard to the 
proportionate contribution to subscriptions. The Schedule when updated by the Board at the end of each 
financial year will reflect the proportionate contribution of each Constituent Council since the 
commencement of the Authority and once accepted by each Constituent Council will be evidence of the 
agreed proportion of a Constituent Council’s interests in the net assets as at 30 June in that year." 

For the purposes of this Clause only Subscriptions for Scheme costs have been included in subscriptions to 
the growth of assets 

This Schedule has been prepared on the basis that the Authority was 'wound up' on 30th June 2006. At 
that date the designs, assessments have been capitalised at a cost of $983,568 and land at cost. Grants 
and contributions from the Commonwealth Government, State Government and the NABCWMB have 
contributed to these costs and have not been deducted. However at 30th June 2006 the Authority was 
holding an amount of State Government Grant paid in advance of $6,808. This calculation has been 
prepared on the basis that this amount would have to be repaid. 

Calculation of Net Equity 

Cash / Investments 
Designs and Infrastructure 
Land 
Total Equity at 30th June 2006 
Less Claims on dissolution 
State Government Grant in advance 

Net Equity 

$1,929,605 
$983,568 
$798,393 

$3,711,566 

$6,808 

$3,704,758 
 
Constituent Councils 

Suscriptions to 
the growth of 

Assets to 
30June 2006 

Percentage of 
Conributions to 

the Total 

Council's 
Interests in Net

Assets 

Adelaide Hills Council $45,160 1.73% $64,257
The Barossa Council $225,760 8.67% $321,230
Town of Gawler $451,510 17.34% $642,445
Light Regional Council $225,760 8.67% $321,230
District Council of Mallala $752,510 28.90% $1,070,733
City of Playford $903,000 34.68% $1,284,862

 
$2,603,700 100.00% $3,704,758

 

Schedule of Constituent Councils’ Interests in Net Assets’ as at the 30th June 2006 adopted by the Board 
in accordance with Clause 15.5 of the Charter on 17th August 2006. 
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Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

Evaluation of Performance Against the Business Plan 2002 – 2009 for the period July 2005 to June 2006 
For the previous achievements see the Annual Report 2002 – 2003, Annual Report 2003 – 2004 and Annual Report 2004 – 2005.  

Evaluation of Performance Against the Business Plan 

This Statement of Performance against the Business Plan will form part of the Quarterly Report to Councils. The Statement was reviewed by the Board at the December, April and 
June meetings. The June report forms part of the GRFMA Annual Report 2005 - 2006. 

Part A: Proposed Flood Mitigation Scheme Works 

Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

Secure Project Funding March 2006 All Councils, stakeholders and ; At June 05 the Commonwealth had approved grants totalling 

  
Governments agree to 
contribute to the project in 
accordance with the Plan 

$1.318 million and the State had approved expenditure of $3.01 
million 

; June 2005 – Gawler River Scheme administered under 
   ‘Infrastructure’ under Minister Conlon. 

   ; A review of the funding shares and scope of works brokered 
between all key stakeholders in a series of meetings where the 

   Scope of the Scheme is increased to $20 million. This was 
precipitated by the ‘Framework for Stormwater Management and 

  Flood Mitigation’ being released for consultation with Local 
  Government in November 2005 and the flooding of the Lower 
   Gawler River including the township of Virginia on 8th & 9th 

   November 2005 (ARI 20). Approximately 70 homes damaged with 
total damages estimated at $40 million. 

   ; A Local Contribution of $3.01 million has been paid. 
   ; All Councils agreed to increase their contributions by a total of 
   $1.49 million. 

   
; The GRFMA at a Special Meeting committed to a local capped 

contribution of $4.5 million and endorsed a submission to 
   Minister Conlon, Minister for Infrastructure, for the State and 
   Commonwealth to fund $15.5 million. 

   
; 8th February 2006 Minister Conlon advises the State Government’s 

commitment to fund $7.75 million contingent on matching funds 
from the Australian Government. 

   
; 8th May 2006 Mr David Fawcett, Member for Wakefield, announces 

a Commonwealth Government Grant of $7.75 million to the 
project. 
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Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

Evaluation of Performance Against the Business Plan 2002 – 2009 for the period July 2005 to June 2006 
For the previous achievements see the Annual Report 2002 – 2003, Annual Report 2003 – 2004 and Annual Report 2004 – 2005.  

Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

Reports to Stakeholders August All stakeholders and affected 
landowners notified of Scheme 

; February 2006 a Progress Report distributed to stakeholders and 
all affected landowners 

 
Bi-Monthly Key Outcomes Summary to be 

published following each Board 
; Key Outcomes Summary published following Ordinary Meetings 

and maintained on the web site for a six month period 

  
Meeting to include a summary 
of the progress of the 
development of the Scheme.

 

The Key Outcomes Summary to 
be provided as a download on 
the website 
www.fredpedler.com go to the 

  

grfma Board page. 

 

North Para Works 

Design and assessments for the Flood Control Dam completed December 2005. Basis for Design Report proposes earliest possible construction is Winter 2006. 
Scope of work expanded to include the relocation of the Turretfield flow gauge weir and tipping bucket rain gauge to a site downstream from the proposed dam. Site selection and 
ecological impact assessment of the weir construction completed December 2005. 

Development Approval for 
construction of the flood control dam 

April 2006 Development Approval issued ; February 2006 application lodged with Development Assessment 
Commission for Crown Development (Public Infrastructure) by 

   AMLRNRM Board 
Native Vegetation Council approval April 2006 Native Vegetation Council ; November 2005 submission made to Native Vegetation Council for 
for the construction of the flood control 
dam  

approval granted the removal of native vegetation at the site. 

Land Acquisition June 2006 Acquisition of the footprint land ; July 2005 - McGlen property, Lot 25 purchased. 

  
‘right to flood’ easements ; October 2005 Maloney Field Services engaged to purchase dam 

footprint land and ‘right to flood’ easement for North Para dam. 
   ; February 2006 survey of acquisitions and easements completed 
   ; March 2006 Compensation Report adopted by the Board 
Relocation of 300 mm water main June 2006 Water main relocated from the 

construction site. 
; March 2006 realignment plan and cost estimate prepared 
; May 2006 work commenced on site. 

Construction of the project March 2006 Call tenders for construction of 
the dam 

; Dam construction divided into two contracts, earthworks and RCC 
construction 

   
; URS Australia Pty Ltd appointed as consultants to manage the 

call tender and evaluation of tenders. 
   ; Tenders called Weekend Australian 18 19 March 2006 P38 

   ; Compulsory site inspection for tenderers 28th March 2006. 
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Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

Evaluation of Performance Against the Business Plan 2002 – 2009 for the period July 2005 to June 2006 
For the previous achievements see the Annual Report 2002 – 2003, Annual Report 2003 – 2004 and Annual Report 2004 – 2005.  

 
Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

   
; May 2006 Board approves dam construction program for 

earthworks to commence in summer 2006 and RCC dam 
construction to commence in April 2007. 

 
June 2006 Construction tender awarded ; June 2006 earthworks construction tender awarded to Bardavcol 

Pty Ltd 

 September 2007 Construction completed  

Design and tender documents for 
construction of the flow gauge weir 

April 2006 Design and tender documents 
prepared 

; January 2006 Australian Water Environments Pty Ltd engaged to 
prepare design and tender documentation. 

Approval for the construction of the 
flow gauge weir 

September 2006 Development Assessment and 
Native Vegetation Council 
approval granted 

; November 2005 Submission to Native Vegetation Council made. 
No significant trees affected. 

Construction of the flow gauge weir December 2006 Call tenders for construction of 
the flow gauge weir  

 
January 2007 Tender for construction of the 

flow gauge weir awarded  

 
March 2007 Construction of the flow gauge 

weir completed  
 

South Para Works 

The South Para Reservoir is under the control and management of SA Water Corporation who have agreed to undertake the required modifications to the South Para Reservoir to 
provide the required level of flood mitigation capacity as a cost to the Scheme. 

Dam safety review and design proposal to modify the dam wall and spillway completed September 2005 

Detailed hydrology study of the catchment using the very latest methodologies let to Department of Transport, Energy and Infrastructure. 

Detailed hydrology study June 2006 Completion of hydrology study ; DTEI engaged to prepare detailed hydrology report of the 
catchment to determine design criteria for South Para Reservoir 

Detailed design of works March 2007 Completion of detailed design 
and tender documents 

Call tender for the works June 2007  

Construction of the works June 2008 Completion of construction 

Page 14 of 16



167 
Gawler River Floodplain Management Authority 

Evaluation of Performance Against the Business Plan 2002 – 2009 for the period July 2005 to June 2006 
For the previous achievements see the Annual Report 2002 – 2003, Annual Report 2003 – 2004 and Annual Report 2004 – 2005.  

Lower Gawler River 

Following the November 2005 flood the scope of works was amended to include a geotechnical assessment of the existing flood control levees 
The following timetable is subject to the completion of those assessments. 

Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

Assessment of flood levees March 2006 Completion of assessment of 
flood levees 

; Coffey Pty Ltd engaged to undertake assessment of levees 

Parallel flood way and levee design June 2006 Completion of parallel flood way 
and levee design 

; March 2006 2D modelling prepared by AWE. 
; April 2006 proposals presented to meeting of Virginia growers. 

Strategies 4 & 5 approved for further assessment. 
Development Approval for works March 2007 Development Approval and 

Native Vegetation Council 
approval granted 

 

Native Vegetation Council approval 
for the construction of proposed works 

March 2007 
  

Land and easement acquisition March 2007 Acquisition of the footprint 
easements and ‘right to flood’ 
easements 

 

Undertake channel improvements June 2007 Completion of Channel 
Improvements  

Parallel flood way and levee 
construction 

December 2007 Completion of parallel flood way 
and levee construction 

 
 
Part B: Maintenance of the Scheme 

Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

Preparation of a Schedule of Dam 
Maintenance Works including costings 

September 2007 Completion of the Schedule ; Draft Maintenance Schedule prepared to be amended during the 
construction process 

Preparation of a Schedule of Lower September 2007 Completion of the Schedule  
Gawler River Maintenance Works 
including costings    

Investigate the opportunities for 
maintenance works to be undertaken 
by Agencies, Councils. 

December 2007 Opportunities being negotiated 
into tangible schemes of 
arrangement 

 

Adopt an integrated Scheme December 2007 The adoption of the  
Maintenance Plan including costings.  Maintenance Plan  
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Performance Targets: Timings: To be measured By: Actual Achievements 

Maintain Effective Regional October The performance of the ; Review of Executive Officer services completed February 2006. 
Subsidiary 

 
Executive Officer to be reviewed 
annually 

Agreement in place to December 2007. 
; Operational Review of Auditor, Bank Operators, levels of 

 

August 
 

The appointment of Auditor, 
Bank Operators, levels of 
insurance, appropriate 
registrations, delegations and 
policies be reviewed annually. 

insurance, appropriate registrations, delegations and policies 
conducted in August 2005. 

; Board meetings held on 21st July, 18th August, 20th October, 25th 
November (special), 15th December 2005 and 23rd February, 24th 
March 2006. (special), 20th April, 23rd May (special), 15th June 2006. 

Review of the Business Plan By 31st March Review the Business Plan prior 
to preparing the Budget forward 
to Councils. 

; Achievements against the Business Plan 2002 – 2007 completed 
in December 2005, April and June 2006. 

; Business Plan 2002 – 2009 reviewed and recommended to 
   Constituent Councils 23rd February 2006. 
   ; Business Plan 2002 – 2009 adopted 15th June 2006. 
Annual Budget By 31st March Adopt for consultation forward ; Draft Budget 2006 – 2007 adopted 23rd February 2006 and advised 
 June to Councils. to Councils 27th February 2006. 
  Adopt Budget copy to Councils ; Budget 2006 – 2007 adopted 15th June 2006.
 Oct, Dec, Apr in 5 days ; Budget 2005 – 2006 reviewed in December 2005, April and June 
  Conduct Budget Reviews 2006. 
Subscriptions June Send half year subscriptions to ; All subscriptions for 2005 – 2006 paid. 
  Councils  
 December Send half year subscriptions to  
  Councils  
Report to Constituent Councils  The receipt of the following ; Key Outcomes Summary distributed following each ordinary 
  Reports by Councils: Board meeting. 
 Following each Board • Board Meeting Key Outcome ; Annual Report 2004 - 2005 sent 30th August 2005. 

 
Meeting 
by 30th September 

Summary 
• Annual Report including 

; Annual Report posted on web site. 

  Annual Financial Statements  
Grant Claims At all times Lodge claims monthly for the 

payment of Commonwealth and 
; Claims lodged for the reporting period. 

  State Government Grants.  
Maintain positive Cash Flow At all times Positive bank account balances 

at all times. 
; Prompt payment of Council subscriptions has provided positive 

cash flows. 



Council Delegations 
 
Having conducted its annual review of the Council’s Delegations Register in accordance with 
Section 44(6) of the Local Government Act 1999, Council reviewed delegations to the Chief 
Executive Officer in accordance with the following. 

 
• Community Titles Act 1999  
• Dog & Cat Management Act 1995 
• Environment Protection Act 1993 and Environment Protection (Burning Policy) 1994  
• Expiation of Offences Act 1996  
• Fences Act 1975 
• Fire and Emergency Services Act 2005 and Fire and Emergency Services Regulations 

2005 
• Freedom of Information Act 1991 
• Housing Improvement Act 1940 
• Land & Business (Sale & Conveyancing) Act 1994  
• Liquor Licensing Act 1997 
• Local Government Act 1934 
• Local Government Act 1996 
• Natural Resources Management Act 2004, Natural Resources Management (General) 

Regulations 2004 and Natural Resources (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2004  
• Roads (Opening and Closing) Act 1991 
• Occupational Health Safety and Welfare Act 1986  
• Road Traffic Act 1961 (SA), Road Traffic (Miscellaneous) Regulations 1999 and Road 

Traffic (Road Rules – Ancillary and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 1999 
Such powers and functions may be further delegated by the Chief Executive Office in 
accordance with Sections 44 and 101 of the Local Government Act 1999 as the Chief 
Executive Officer sees fit, unless otherwise indicated herein or in the Schedule of 
Conditions contained in each such proposed Instrument of Delegation. 
 

• Delegations made under Development Act 1993 
In exercise of the power contained in Section 20 of the Development Act 1993, the powers 
and functions under the Development Act 1993 and the Development Regulations 1993 
contained in the proposed Instrument of Delegation (annexed to the Report dated 23rd May 
2006 and entitled Instrument of Delegation under the Development Act 1993 and 
Development Regulations 1993 and marked Appendix 17 are delegated this 23rd of May 
2006 to the person occupying the office of Chief Executive Officer, subject to the 
conditions or limitations indicated herein or in the Schedule of Conditions contained in the 
proposed Instrument of Delegation under the Development Act 1993.   

 
Paragraphs 9 though 10 inclusive subject to the Schedule of Conditions of the relevant 
instrument of delegation 

• Delegations made under Food Act 2001 
In exercise of the powers contained in Section 91 of the Food Act 2001, the powers and 
functions under the Food Act 2001 contained in the Instrument of Delegation (annexed to 
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the Report dated 23rd May 2006 and entitled Instrument of Delegation under the Food Act 
2001 and marked Appendix 18 delegated this 23rd of May 2006 to the person occupying the 
office of Chief Executive Officer (“the head of the enforcement agency” for the purposes of 
the Food Act 2001), subject to the conditions or limitations indicated herein or in the 
Schedule of Conditions contained in the proposed Instrument of Delegation under the Food 
Act 2001.   
Such powers and functions may be further delegated by the Chief Executive Officer as the 
Chief Executive Officer sees fit and in accordance with the relevant legislation unless 
otherwise indicated herein or in the Schedule of Conditions contained in the proposed 
Instrument of Delegation under the Food Act 2001. 

• Delegations made under Public and Environmental Health Act 1987 
In exercise of the power contained in Section 6 of the Public and Environmental Health Act 
1987, the powers and functions under the Public & Environmental Health Act 1987 and 
Public and Environmental Health (Waste Control) Regulations 1995 contained in the 
Instrument of Delegation (annexed to the Report dated 23rd May 2006 and entitled 
Instrument of Delegation under the Public and Environmental Health Act 1987 and the 
Public and Environmental Health (Waste Control) Regulations 1995 and marked Appendix 
19 are delegated to the person occupying the office of Chief Executive Officer, subject to 
the conditions or limitations indicated herein or in the Schedule of Conditions contained in 
the proposed Instrument of Delegation under the Public and Environmental Health Act 
1987.   
Such powers and functions may be further delegated by the Chief Executive Officer as the 
Chief Executive Officer sees fit and in accordance with the relevant legislation unless 
otherwise indicated herein or in the Schedule of Conditions contained in the proposed 
Instrument of Delegation under the Public and Environmental Health Act 1987. 

• Delegations under Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 
In exercise of the power contained in Section 9 of the Supported Residential Facilities Act 
1992, the powers and functions under the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992 
contained in the proposed Instrument of Delegation (annexed to the Report dated 23rd May 
2006 and entitled Instrumentation of Delegation under the Supported Residential Facilities 
Act 1992 and marked Appendix 20) are delegated to the person occupying the office of 
Chief Executive Officer, subject to the conditions or limitations indicated herein or in the 
Schedule of Conditions contained in the proposed Instrument of Delegation under the 
Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992. 
Such powers and functions may be further delegated by the Chief Executive Officer as the 
Chief Executive Officer sees fit and in accordance with the relevant legislation unless 
otherwise indicated herein or in the Schedule of Conditions contained in the proposed 
Instrument of Delegation under the Supported Residential Facilities Act 1992. 
Authorisations under the Road Traffic Act 1961 
 

That, in accordance with the Notice to the Council dated 12 March 2001 from the Minister for 
Transport and Urban Planning (“the Minister’s Notice”), the Council authorises the Chief 
Executive Officer to exercise, for, and on behalf of the Council, the power conferred on the 
Council pursuant to the following clauses of the Minister’s Notice in relation to the Road Traffic 
Act 1961: subject to – 
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(i) the conditions contained in the Minister’s Notice; and 
 
(ii) any conditions contained in this Resolution or in such instrument; and 
 
(iii) the creation of a separate instrument in writing reflecting such authorisations 

under the Minister’s Notice and this Resolution.  
 

The said instrument shall be in substantially the same form as the proposed instrument of 
authorisation annexed to the Report dated 23rd May 2006 and entitled Road Traffic Act 
1961 (SA), Road Traffic (Miscellaneous) Regulations 1999 and Road Traffic (Road Rules – 
Ancillary and Miscellaneous Provisions) Regulations 1999 and marked Appendix 16. 

 
Meeting notices, agendas, minutes, reports able to be supplied to members of the public, 
and Council resolutions. 
 
Council and Committee Meeting Arrangements 2006 
 
On 23 May 2006 Council revised its Committee Structure and appointed members to committees 
until the Council election on 11 November 2006.   Amendments were made at the Council 
Meetings held on 25 July and 22 August 2006.  
 
Copies of Meeting Notices, Agendas, Minutes are available on request from Council office or at 
Council’s web page, www.gawler.sa.gov.au 
 
Governance & Strategy Portfolio Committee 
 
On the First Tuesday every alternate month. 
 
Members (until November 2006 Council election). 
1. Deputy Mayor Cr Brian Thom, Chair 
2. Mayor Cr Helena Dawkins, Deputy Chair 
3. Cr David Strauss 
4. Cr David Ferguson 
5. Cr Kevin Fisher 
6. Cr Greg Morris 
 
Functions 
• Strategic Planning 
• Corporate and Business Planning 
• Corporate Communications and Marketing 
• Local Government and Intergovernmental Relations 
• Local Government Structural Reform 
• Risk Management 
• Audit - Internal 
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Corporate & Community Services Portfolio Committee  
 
The Second Tuesday of each month commencing 6.30pm. 
  
Members (until November 2006 Council election). 
1. Chair Cr David Strauss 
2. Deputy Chair Cr David Ferguson 
3. Mayor Cr Helena Dawkins 
4. Deputy Mayor Cr Brian Thom 
5. Cr Kevin Fisher 
6. Cr David Arandle 
 
Functions 
• Financial management, planning & monitoring 
• Human Resources  
• Information Technology  
• Customer Services 
• Insurances & Legal 
• Economic Development 
• Tourism 
• Council Property administration (leases) 
• Community Liaison 
• Community Groups 
• Elderly Care 
• Youth 
• Family Services 
• Library and Community Information Services 
• Community Housing 
• Arts and Culture 
• Sport and Recreation  
• Immunisation 
• Swimming Pool 
• Audit - External 
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Infrastructure & Environmental Services Portfolio Committee 
 
The Third Tuesday of each month commencing 6.30pm. 
 
Members (until November 2006 Council election). 
1. Cr Kevin Fisher, Chair 
2. Cr Greg Morris, Deputy Chair 
3. Mayor Cr Helena Dawkins 
4. Deputy Mayor Cr Brian Thom 
5. Cr David Strauss 
6. Cr Ian Skewes 
7. Cr Lillian Bartlett 
 
Functions 
• Roads 
• Footpaths 
• Stormwater 
• Development  
• Building 
• Planning 
• Heritage 
• Asset Management 
• Works and Maintenance 
• Parks, Gardens, Playgrounds and Reserves 
• Cemeteries 
• Council Properties (maintenance & upgrades) 
• Waste & Recycling 
• Main Street upgrade 
• Animal and Plant Control  
• Flood Mitigation and Flood Protection 
• Emergency Management 
• Bylaws 
• Dog and Cat Control 
• General Inspectorial Services 
• Environment and Community Health 
• Parking 
 
Council 
 
The Fourth Tuesday of each month, commencing 7.00pm. 
 
Members 
Mayor and all Councillors 
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